UNIVERSITY OF CAPE COAST

PERCEIVED IMPACT OF THE AGRICULTURE AND FOOD SECURITY PROGRAMME OF THE HUNGER PROJECT ON THE LIVELIHOODS OF BENEFICIARIES IN THE MFANTSIMAN MUNICIPALITY OF THE

CENTRAL REGION OF GHANA

RICHARD OMARI

2020



UNIVERSITY OF CAPE COAST

PERCEIVED IMPACT OF THE AGRICULTURE AND FOOD SECURITY PROGRAMME OF THE HUNGER PROJECT ON THE LIVELIHOODS OF BENEFICIARIES IN THE MFANTSIMAN MUNICIPALITY OF THE



Thesis submitted to the Department of Agricultural Economics and Extension of the School of Agriculture, College of Agriculture and Natural Sciences, University of Cape Coast, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of Master of Philosophy Degree in Non-Governmental Organization Studies and Community Development

DECEMBER 2020

Digitized by Sam Jonah Library

DECLARATION

Candidate's Declaration

I hereby declare that this thesis is the result of my own original research and that no part of it has been presented for another degree in this university or elsewhere.

Candidate's Signature: Date:....

Name: Richard Omari

Supervisors' Declaration

I hereby declare that the preparation and presentation of the thesis were supervised in accordance with the guidelines on supervision of thesis laid down by the University of Cape Coast.

Supervisor's Signature: Date:

Name: Prof. Festus Annor-Frempong

ABSTRACT

The Hunger Project- Ghana implemented the Agriculture and Food Security Programme in the Mfantsiman Municipality of the Central Region of Ghana to ensure food security of the households in the communities. The programme that provided inputs, supported extension delivery, trained farmers and linked them to potential buyers had not been assessed to determine the impact on the livelihoods of beneficiaries. The study used a descriptive survey design to sample 175 beneficiaries from six communities and used content validated interview schedule to measure the perceived impact of The Hunger Project's programme on livelihoods of beneficiaries. Stepwise multiple regressions were used to assess the relationship and determine research variables influencing perceived impact. The study revealed that the components of the programme were moderately effective in achieving its goals. Beneficiaries generally perceived a moderate impact of the programme on their livelihoods. However, the perceived impact of the programme on social capital was described as high. The study concluded that educational level and sex of beneficiaries influence the perceived effectiveness of the Agriculture and Food Security Programme on the livelihoods. The study recommends among others, the need for THP to work to improve market linkage component to help beneficiaries market their produce after harvest.

KEY WORDS

Beneficiaries

Effectiveness

Food security

Livelihood

Impact



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to express my profound gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Festus Annor-Frempong of the Department of Agricultural Economics and Extension, University of Cape Coast for his guidance, support, direction and patience during the conduct of the study and write up of the thesis. My heartfelt gratitude also goes to all the lecturers of the Department of Agricultural Economics and Extension of the University of Cape Coast for support and encouragement. Further gratitude goes to Mr. Kofi Essien, Head of Livelihoods & Microfinance Programme, The Hunger Project -Ghana for providing me with useful data and direction for this study. I would also like to appreciate Mr. David McMensah formerly of The Hunger Project for constructively critiquing the instrument for data collection.

I would like to thank Mr. Ebenezer Osei Ampofo, Mr. Rockson Ofori, Mr. John Basie and Mr. Robert Eshun for assisting during the data collection. I would also like to thank all the members of the Department of Agricultural Science, Oti Boateng Senior High School especially Mr. Anim Aboagye and Mr. Enerst Boahene, for tremendous support during the period of study.

I am most grateful also, to my brother, Samuel Sefah-Danquah for proofreading aspects of this thesis. Finally, I would like to thank all my course mates especially Mr. Isaac Kwasi Asante for the immense support and encouragement offered throughout the preparation of the thesis.

DEDICATION

To my wife, Rita Agyeibea Hanson Omari, my daughter, Afia Nyamekye Ofosu Omari and my mother, Diana Serwah Yeboah.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
DECLARATION	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
KEY WORDS	iv
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	v
DEDICATION	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XV
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	
Background to the Study	1
Statement of the Problem	4
Objectives of the Study	6
Specific Objectives	6
Research Questions	7
Hypothesis of the Study	7
Significance of the Study NOBIS	8
Delimitation of the Study	8
Limitation of the Study	9
Definition of Terms	10
Organization of the Study	11
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	
Introduction	12

Theoretical Framework	12
Theory of Change	12
Modernization Theory	16
The Concept of Livelihood	19
Conceptualization of the Components of Livelihood Capitals	21
Natural Capital	22
Physical Capital	26
Human Capital	27
Financial Capital	29
Social Capital	31
Perception	35
General Principles of Perception	36
Cognitive Style	38
Measuring Impact of Agricultural Interventions	38
Measuring Effectiveness of Agricultural Interventions	40
Impact of Agriculture and Food Security Programmes on	
Livelihoods	42
Agricultural Interventions by NGOs and their effect on Beneficiaries	45
Perceived Effectiveness of Agriculture and Food Security	
Programmes on Livelihoods	47
Empirical Studies on Perceived Impact of Agricultural Intervention	
on Livelihoods	49
Profile and Activities of the Hunger Project – Ghana (THP-Ghana)	50
Socio-economic and Demographic Characteristics of Beneficiaries	
of Agriculture and Food Security Programmes	52

Age of Beneficiaries 53		
Marital Status of Beneficiaries 54		
Sex of Beneficiaries 5		
Educational Level of Beneficiaries 5		
Years of Farming Experience of Beneficiaries 5		
Farm Size Cultivated by Beneficiaries 57		
Number of Dependants	57	
Alternative Source of Income	58	
Yield of Maize (kg/acre)	58	
Source of Agricultural Information	59	
Sources of Funds for Agricultural Production	60	
Market Outlets 61		
Source of Farm Input	62	
Source of Agricultural Labour	62	
Conceptual Framework of the Study 63		
CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY		
Introduction	65	
Study Area	65	
Research Design 68		
Study Population	68	
Sample Size and Sampling Procedure	69	
Instrumentation	71	
Validity and Reliability	72	
Pre-Testing	72	
Data Collection	73	

Data Analysis		
Collinearity Diagnostic Test		
Dependent and Independent Research Variables	77	
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION		
Introduction	78	
Socioeconomic and Demographic Characteristics of Beneficiaries	78	
Perceived Effectiveness of Agriculture and Food Security		
Programme	91	
Perceived Effectiveness of Extension Services and Training	92	
The Impact of the Agriculture and Food Security Programme on the		
Livelihood Assets of Beneficiaries	95	
Relationship between Socio-Economic and Demographic		
Characteristics on Perceived Effectiveness of the Agriculture and		
Food Security Programme		
Testing of Hypothesis 1		
Relationship between Socio-Economic and Demographic		
Characteristics and Perceived Impact AFSP on Livelihood 10		
Testing of Hypothesis Two		
CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND		
RECOMMENDATIONS		
Summary	108	
Summary of Key Findings of the Study	110	
Conclusions	112	
Recommendations	113	
Suggestions for Further Research	115	

REFERENCES		116
APPENDICES		140
	APPENDIX A: STRUCTURED INTERVIEW	
	SCHEDULE	140
	APPENDIX B: TABLE FOR DETERMINING	
	SAMPLE SIZE FROM A GIVEN POPULATION	147
	APPENDIX C: DAVIS CONVERSION FOR	
	DESCRIBING MAGNITUDE OF CORRELATION	
	COEFFICIENTS	148
	APPENDIX D: PAIRED SAMPLE T-TEST FOR	
	YIELD BEFORE AND AFTER JOINING THP	149



LIST OF TABLES

TablePage		
1	Population of Beneficiaries of THP's AFSP in the Mfantseman	
	Municipality	69
2	Sample Size Selected for the Study	70
3	Reliability Co-efficient of the Instrument	73
4	Collinearity Diagnostic Test	76
5	Sex of Beneficiaries	79
6	Age of Beneficiaries	80
7	Educational Level of Beneficiaries	81
8	Marital Status of Beneficiaries	82
9	Number of Dependants in Beneficiaries' Household	83
10	Farm Size in Acres	84
11	Primary Occupation of Beneficiaries	85
12	Farming Experience Beneficiaries (years)	85
13	Years of Working with THP	86
14	Maize yield (Kg/acre) of farmers before joining THP	87
15	Yield (kg/acre) Maize after joining THP during the 2018 Season	88
16	Source of Agricultural Information	89
17	Sources of Agricultural Credit	89
18	Source of Inputs	90
19	Source of Agricultural Labour	91
20	Perceived Effectiveness of Input Supply	92
21	Perceived Effectiveness of Extension and Training Service	93
22	Perceived Effectiveness of Market Links and Networks	94

23	Means of Perceived Effectiveness of the Programme Components	
24	4 Perceived Impact of Agriculture and Food Security Programme on	
	Financial Capital of Beneficiaries	95
25	Perceived Impact of Agriculture and Food Security Programme on	
	Physical Capital of Beneficiaries	97
26	Perceived Impact of Agriculture and Food Security Programme on	
	Human Capital of Beneficiaries	98
27	Perceived Impact of the Agriculture and Food Security Programme	
	on Social Capitals of Beneficiaries	99
28	Perceived Impact of the Agriculture and Food Security Programme	
	on the Natural capital of Beneficiaries	100
29	Means and standard deviations of perceived impact of the	
	programme on various livelihood capitals	101
30	Relationship between Socio-economic and Demographic	
	Characteristics and Perceived Effectiveness of the AFSP on	
	Livelihoods	102
31	Multiple Stepwise Regression of Selected Socio-economic and	
	Demographic Characteristics and Perceived Effectiveness of the	
	Programme Components BIS	103
32	Relationship between Socio-economic and Demographic	
	Characteristics and Perceived Impact of the AFSP on	
	Livelihoods.	105
33	Multiple Stepwise Regression of Selected Socio-economic and	
	Demographic Characteristics and Perceived Impact of the	
	Programme	107

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page	
	1	Conceptual Framework for Assessing the Perceived Impact of the	
		AFSP on Livelihood in the Mfantsiman Municipality.	63
	2	Map of Mfantsiman Municipality showing the study communities	
		in red dots	67



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AAGDS	Accelerated Agricultural Growth and Development Strategy
AFSP	Agriculture and Food Security Programme
AWFI	African Women Food Farmers Initiative
CSOs	Civil Society Organizations
DFID	Department for International Development
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FASDEP	Food and Agriculture Sector Development Project
ISSER	Institute of Statistical, Social and Economic Research
METASIP	Medium Term Agricultural Sector Investment Plan
MiDA	Millennium Development Authority
MOA	Ministry of Agriculture of Liberia
MoFA	Ministry of Food and Agriculture
NGOs	Non-Governmental Organizations
SD	Standard deviation
SLA	Sustainable Livelihood approach
SLF	Sustainable Livelihood Framework
SPSS	Statistical Product and Service Solutions
THP	The Hunger Project
ToTs	Trainer of Trainers
WAAPP	West Africa Agricultural Productivity Programme
WFP	World Food Programme

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

Background to the Study

Food security has become a global issue over the years because of its effect on livelihoods and poverty eradication among the less privileged. Individuals are considered to be food secure when there is continuous access to adequate, harmless and nourishing food to meet the dietary needs and food preference for active and healthy life. The Food and Agriculture Organization estimated in 2017 that over one billion people were underfed whiles 22.7 percent of children under the age of five were malnourished, wasting and underweight due to lack or inadequate consumption of food. Previous statistics further indicated that out of the 795 million undernourished, 780 million came from developing regions of the world especially sub- Sahara Africa (FAO, 2015).

Countries in sub-Saharan Africa, over the past half-century, have been battling with one form of food insecurity or the other. The scan of literature on the subject of food security has revealed telling situations in some sub-Saharan countries. For example, a research conducted to investigate the interventional **NOBIS** model for sustainable food security in the dry lands of Kenya found the food security situation to be fragile (Lemba, 2009). Fawole, Ilbasmis and Ozkan (2015) studied food insecurity in Nigeria and pointed to a startling revelation of a high prevalence of undernourishment and food inadequacy. The number of undernourished people was found to be on the increase in Nigeria. The situation in the aforementioned countries is not exclusively peculiar. A report by MoFA (2015) revealed that Ghana had issues with food security at a point

in time. The said report indicated about 1.2 million Ghanaians were chronically food insecure. Additionally, the report indicated that 12 million Ghanaians are vulnerable to becoming food insecure. The report concluded that the poor and economically vulnerable households averagely have low per capita food intake. The Ghana Statistical Service (2017) in the Ghana living standard survey round 7, reported that 2.4 million adults in Ghana could not meet a daily minimum calorie requirement of 2,900 calories per day per adult.

A study conducted by Adu, Yawson, Armah, Abano and Quansah (2018) indicated that food security and poverty at community and household levels are highest in the northern sector of Ghana compared to other regions of the country. That notwithstanding, there are also recorded incidences of food insecurity in the southern part of Ghana and there are literatures to bear credence. A study conducted in the Ketu District of the Volta Region in the south eastern part of Ghana, reported that 73.4% of vegetable farmers targeted were found to be food insecure despite their involvement in some sort of employment (Manu, Akuamoah-Boateng & Akaba, 2013). A related study by Kuwornu, Suleyman and Amegashie (2013a), has evidence that about 60 % of household in the farming areas of the forest belt in the Central Region are food insecure. Their study also revealed that the majority (67.9%) of the household in the coastal and forest belts of the region were food insecure. Furthermore, about 34% of the households in the coastal belt consume lower than the recommended calorie intake compared to food-insecure households in the forest belt.

The food insecurity and poverty at the household levels in Ghana have motivated several agricultural interventions by Government, Civil Society

2

Organizations (CSOs) and Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs). About twenty government and non-governmental organizations were reported to have implemented agriculture and food security interventions in northern Ghana between 2006 and 2016 (Adu et al., 2018). Government, over the years, has partnered with other development organizations, to implement various policies aimed at addressing the challenge of food insecurity. The goal, in most instances, has been to improve the food security situation of targeted populations. Some of the policy initiatives included the following: Accelerated Agricultural Growth and Development Policy (AAGDS), FASDEP I, FASDEP II and METASIP (Boateng, Kwowe & Nyaaba, 2014). Although the state interventions yielded considerable success at the national level, community and household level food insecurity prevalence has seen an upsurge, a situation that threatens livelihoods of people. Some NGOs have complemented government's initiatives over the years in various ways through the provision of inputs, infrastructure, value addition and processing, market access and agricultural extension services and training (Adu et al., 2017).

The Hunger Project-Ghana (THP-Ghana) has been working with farming households in rural areas including the Mfantsiman Municipality of the Central Region. The primary objective of THP –Ghana, is to work with the farmers in the municipality to improve agriculture and food security. The modus operandus of THP-Ghana is to provide project communities with farming inputs such as fertilizers, insecticides and improved seeds and build their capacity using community empowerment principles. The supply of farm inputs to farmers is demand-driven based on the ability of a beneficiary to pay the subsidized cost. To increase reach and impact, the THP-Ghana usually use

Agricultural Trainers of Trainers (TOTs) as an innovation to provide agricultural extension service. The trained TOTs sensitize communities to use improved and modern methods of farming to ensure increased food production and security. THP-Ghana also introduced food bank storage technology to farmers in the beneficiary communities to reduce post-harvest losses (Takyiwaa, 2012).

Literature is scanty on evaluating the overall impact of such development interventions, especially in the agricultural sector that could drive better or improve interventions that could have longer lasting impacts on target communities. Perceived success of such interventions is in most contexts measured by the extent of reach and not the actual impact on the livelihoods of the targeted population. This is despite the clarion call by the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) for the application necessary approaches to measuring the general success of development interventions of which agricultural interventions are inclusive. The dilemma, however, is that the lack of scientific approaches to measuring agricultural interventions especially in the area of food security makes their overall impact sometimes elusive (UNDP, 2001)

NOBI

Statement of the Problem

Ghana has seen a rise in agriculture and food security interventions over the years especially in areas where food insecurity is prevalent. A literature search lends credence to the numerous interventions initiated by state and non-state actors with varying scopes and outcomes (Osei, Aidoo & Tuffour, 2013, Adu et al., 2018). Kuwornu et al. (2013b) asserted that much of the studies conducted on food security are concentrated in the part of Ghana

which is considered to be poorest and most food insecure. The few studies conducted in the Central Region of Ghana have sought to examine the effects of biofuel cultivation on household food security (Pappoe, 2011; Quainoo, 2010).

Literature on assessing the overall impact of agricultural interventions implemented by NGOs on the livelihoods of beneficiaries in the Central Region of Ghana is scanty despite the fact that the region has seen various interventions by NGOs. THP– Ghana has been operating in some communities of the Central Region since 2003 with the goal of ending rural poverty and hunger, and impact positively on the livelihoods of its beneficiaries. THP used the epicentre community mobilization strategy to offer numerous agriculture and food security interventions including providing input supply (seeds, fertilizer, insecticides, weedicides, cutlasses, and wellington boots), training on good agricultural practices, extension services, market access, food banks and farm credit with the objective to improving agriculture and livelihoods of beneficiaries.

The key question is, have the components of the programme been effective and made the expected impact on the livelihoods of the beneficiaries in the Mfanstiman Municipality? Very little, if any, is known from the perspective of the beneficiaries on how the programme has impacted on their livelihoods since its inception in the Mfantsiman Municipality in the Central Region of Ghana. Additionally, substantial knowledge gap exists on how socio-economic and demographic characteristics of the beneficiaries affected the overall effectiveness of the AFSP in the study area. According to Babatunde, Omotesho and Sholatan (2007) and Nesengani and Netshandama (2016), educational level, number of dependents, gender and many other socio-economic and demographic variables can influence the extent of effectiveness of agricultural and food security programmes. However, little is known of how these variables have influenced the success of the AFSP in the study area. This is an additional gap to be filled by this research.

Objectives of the Study

The general objective of the study is to examine the perceived impact of the agriculture and food security programme of The Hunger Project on the livelihoods of beneficiaries in the Mfantsiman Municipality of the Central Region of Ghana.

Specific Objectives

The specific objectives of the study are to:

- 1. Describe the socio-economic and demographic characteristics of the programme beneficiaries.
- Determine the perceived effectiveness of components of the agriculture and food security programme on the livelihoods of beneficiaries.
- 3. Examine the perceived impact of the agriculture and food security programme on the livelihoods of beneficiaries.
- 4. Determine the extent to which socio-economic and demographic characteristics of beneficiaries influence the perceived effectiveness of the agriculture and food security programme on their livelihoods.

5. Examine the extent to which socio-economic and demographic characteristics of beneficiaries influence the perceived impact of the agriculture and food security programme on their livelihoods.

Research Questions

- 1. What are the socio-economic and demographic characteristics of the programme beneficiaries?
- 2. Do beneficiaries perceive various components of the agriculture and food security programme of THP to be effective?
- 3. What is the impact of the agriculture and food security programme on the livelihoods of beneficiaries?
- 4. To what extent do socioeconomic and demographic characteristics of beneficiaries influence the perceived of the effectiveness of the agriculture and food security programme on their livelihoods?
- 5. To what extent do socio-economic and demographic characteristics of beneficiaries influence the perceived impact of the agriculture and food security programme their livelihoods?

Hypothesis of the Study

1. H_0 : There is no significant relationship between sex and perceived effectiveness of AFSP on the livelihoods of beneficiaries.

 H_1 : There is a significant relationship between sex and perceived effectiveness of AFSP on the livelihoods of beneficiaries.

2. *H*₀: There is a significant difference between the yields of beneficiaries before and after joining THP.

 H_1 : There is no significant difference between the yields of beneficiaries before and after joining THP

Significance of the Study

The study assessed the perceived impact of THP's agriculture and food security programme on the livelihoods of beneficiaries of the Mfantsiman Municipality of the Central region of Ghana. This study is significant because it sought the perspective of the beneficiaries on how the programme has impacted on their livelihoods since its inception in the Mfantsiman Municipality. This study is significant in many different ways. First, it provides other researchers a sample scientific framework of measuring the overall impact of interventions from the point of view of the beneficiaries. This will help researchers have benchmarks against which perceived impacts of supposed projects could objectively be assessed.

Additionally, THP Ghana could use findings, especially those on the perceived impact of the selected components of the programme, as a guide to review implementation strategies and components of the programme. Finally, the study has added to the body of knowledge with respect to beneficiaries' perception of the impact of agriculture and food security programmes on their NOBIS

Delimitation of the Study

The Hunger Project - Ghana's agriculture and food security programme comprises different components namely; input supply, extension services and training, market links and networks and food bank technology. The food bank technology however was not considered in this study. THP operates two epicentres in the Central Region; Asafra and Taidoo epicentres. This study only focused on Taidoo epicentre since all the project communities under this epicentre fall within the Mfantsiman Municipality where the study was conducted.

Limitation of the Study

The interview guide used for the study was structured and created no limited room for probing, prompting and clarification of questions for further information from beneficiaries involved in the study. The instrument was however made valid by analysing the responses given by the subjects for the study. The results are presented in fourth chapter of this study.

Responses from beneficiaries on impacts were based on recall and there was the likelihood of beneficiaries providing inaccurate responses to some of the items on the instrument. Ideally verifying physically could have helped. There were also issues of transparency between beneficiaries in the Taidoo epicentre and the leaders in the handling of proceeds from the project. Some respondents were aggrieved and did not participate willingly. The researcher relied on the goodwill of one of the ToTs to persuade the aggrieved beneficiaries to participate in the study. The study area was chosen because of the poverty and food insecurity levels reported in various studies conducted along the coastal and the forest belts of the municipality e.g. Kuwornu et al. (2013a) despite the numerous interventions and activities of NGOs.

Definition of Terms

The following are the key terms used in the study:

- **Effectiveness**: Effectiveness refers to the achievement of farming objectives of beneficiaries as a result of participation in the agriculture and food security programme of THP.
- **Financial capital:** Financial capital refers to either ability of beneficiaries to acquire or receive credit from financial institutions and other people, ability to save proceeds from farming activities and or the ability to decrease debt.
- **Human capital:** Having access to labour (skilled and unskilled), extension service and /or the ability to pay for labour.
- **Impact:** The extent to which farmers think the agriculture and food security programme has improved or retarded aspects of the livelihoods.
- Livelihoods: Livelihoods refer to the means, activities and entitlements by which the AFSP beneficiaries make a living. The livelihood assets include; natural, physical, financial, human and social capitals.
- **Natural capital:** The natural capital included ability of beneficiaries to increase yield per hectare, have access to and own lands and better farm inputs (improved seeds, fertilizers, pesticides and other agrochemicals).
- **Non-Governmental Organization:** These are non-partisan, non-profit, independent, voluntary organizations that are not governed by the state.
- **Perceived impact:** Judgment of the beneficiaries on the extent to which the programme components have improved their livelihoods.
- **Physical capital:** ownership of: a knapsack sprayer, farm tools, electronic gadgets (mobile phones, laptops and radio sets). It also means having the

means to pay for vehicles to cart farm produce to the market for sale and also having the means to acquire planting materials.

Social capital: The ability to feed and support own family and other family members. It also means being able to pay your ward's school fees, funeral dues and other social commitments.

Organization of the Study

This study is organized into five chapters. Chapter One is the introductory chapter and consists the background to the study, statement of the problem, research objectives, research questions, significance of the study, limitation of the study and definition of key terms. The review of the relevant literature which forms the basis of the study makes up Chapter Two.

Chapter Three presented as the methodology of the study. It reflected the study type, its scope, data sources and kinds of data, instruments for the study. The sampling method, sample size, ethical consideration and analytical techniques used in the study were included in Chapter Three. The fourth chapter discussed the results and findings of the research based on the objectives of the study. Chapter Five gives a summary of the findings of the study; presents conclusions based on the findings as well as relevant recommendations that can guide other researchers in the conduct of studies on the impact of developmental interventions.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

Introduction

The theoretical and conceptual frameworks, and the existing empirical studies related to the study are reviewed in this chapter. Themes under this chapter include theory of change, modernization theory, concept of livelihood and conceptualization of livelihood capitals. It also covers perception and principles of perception, impact of agriculture and food security programmes on the livelihoods as well as agricultural interventions and their effects on beneficiaries. The profile of the Hunger Project Ghana and the socio-economic and demographic characteristics of beneficiaries are also covered under this chapter.

Theoretical Framework

It is important to understand how the agriculture and food security programme was conceptualized and implemented theoretically to be able to assess perceived impact on the livelihood of beneficiaries. The theory of change and modernization theory therefore were considered as the theories underpinning the study.

Theory of Change

According to Weiss (1995), Theory of Change is a way of describing a set of assumptions that explain both the mini-steps that lead to the long- term goal and the connections between the programme activities and outcomes that occur at each step of the way. The theory was conceptualized in the 1950's originating from Kirkpatrick's model of learning. Theory of change has been

reconceptualised in many forms and under different disciplines over the years. The theory has assumed different names including programme theory, logic model, results chain, outcome pathway, implementation theory, impact pathway analysis, action theory among others. All these names have been used in an attempt to contextualize the application of the theory of change in different disciplines. The only contention, however, is the lack of consensus on the general agreement on its meaning (Funnell & Rogers, 2011; Stein & Valters, 2012). The single strain of element underpinning the various names and definitions is how a projected intervention when implemented will bring about a specific desired change as well as the establishment of relationships between activities and outcomes (Van Es, 2015).

The past decade has seen the theory of change gaining the attention of development organizations, especially in the areas of planning and designing, as well as in the management, assessment and scale up of planned interventions (Mayne, 2015). The theory describes key components as well as activities required to be employed in the attempt to reach a long-term goal. It outlines the intervention type, whether single or a wider community intervention, which brings about the desired change expected. A theory of change usually assumes of positions, in most cases informed by evidence in literature which is adopted by stakeholders or implementers to describe the change process. In the view Connell and Kubisch (1998), the theory in its evaluative paradigm explains the evaluation questions as well as aid in identifying what is to be evaluated.

The relevance of the theory of change to programme planners is that it helps programme planners to get an understanding of why and how their

13

intended projects will work (James, 2011). In the view of Weiss (1995), participants in a programme from the beginning must be made to understand the overall outcomes and impacts of the project. It is also argued that participants are made aware of approaches that will be employed to achieve desired outcomes and impacts.

The theory of change presents varied positive imperatives for programmes and policy initiatives. Prinsen and Nijhof (2015) believe that the theory when employed during the design phase of an intervention, improves planning and subsequent implementation of the initiative. The stakeholders are afforded the opportunity to clearly state or define the expected outcomes of the intended project or initiative. Additionally, it aids in determining the implementation activities that are expected to realize the desired changes or outcomes helping guide choices on how and when to measure outlined elements. Theory of change reduces the risk of tool-driven evaluations by providing specific guidelines to help decide on the tools that are likely to be used for the evaluation process (Stein & Valters, 2012).

There is some level of consensus building among stakeholders, especially with the adoption of theory of change, as Connell and Kubisch (1998) suggest, on the expected implementation activities and the likely support needed to achieve the expected or desired change. A theory of change, from the beginning, explains the conditions under which expected activities will result in both immediate as well as long term outcomes. The theory outlines the expected variables that are likely to influence the designed activities. Van Es (2015) noted that this improves the degree of predictability, attributing subsequent changes in the expected outcomes to implemented

activities. The adoption of theory of change, especially at the beginning of an initiative and reaching a consensus in the defining elements of a particular initiative or intervention minimizes the challenges usually associated with causal attribution of expected impact.

Though the Theory of Change is widely accepted and used in diverse ways in the circles of development work, its pitfalls are well documented by both academia and professionals in the field of development. For example, Pristein and Nijhof (2015), argue that there will never be enough evidence to show causality in societal processes and therefore contend the Theory of Change's ability to depict complexities in societal processes. In the view of Valters (2014) the way organizations apply the Theory of Change, suggests that change revolves around their implemented programmes and do not see contextual factors of which they are just one part. Stein and Valters (2012) concluded that in most cases, organizations fail to define the key concepts of the theory which lead to lack of understanding of what the Theory of Change is and may lead to unrealistic expectations of what it could deliver.

The Theory of Change is linked to the AFSP in the sense that Mayne (2015) indicates that for an intervention to result in a desired change, a set of activities must be undertaken to result the production of the interventions' good and services (outputs). The author posits that these outputs must reach the intended target group which upon usage, will lead to capacity change (i.e. - a change in knowledge, attitudes, skills, aspirations and opportunities) of those who received them. The AFSP also begins with activities which mobilize the communities for local community development including agriculture which

leads to a change in capacity of farmers by enhancing their knowledge, attitude, skills, aspirations and opportunities.

Mayne (2015) further noted that the change in knowledge, attitudes, skills, aspirations and opportunities of the target group will result in behavioural changes among the target group which in actual practice enable them to do things differently resulting in direct benefits. The AFSP through input supply and empowerment training programmes seeks to bring about behavioural change among beneficiaries in the form of good farming and crop management practices. The direct benefits of the AFSP are the improvements in the state of individual beneficiaries in the form of increased income levels, improved health, more productive farming and more empowerment. The Theory of Change also seeks a long-term cumulative improvement in the overall well-being of individual beneficiaries including better food security which the AFSP also espouses.

Modernization Theory

Tipps (1973) conceived the modernization theory as a series of processes that lead to the desired changes in all areas of human and society. The concept of modernisation became popular in the United States of America in the late 1940s and early 1950s. The idea was first proposed by the renowned German sociologist, Max Weber (1864 -1920) who referred to the concept as model of a transition from a traditional or what he describes as pre-modern to a modern society. Harvard sociologist, Talcott Parsons, is believed to have developed a paradigm and further popularized the concept. The theory assumed that, lesser developed countries or societies can adopt approaches followed by advanced countries or societies in their attempt to develop. The

theory of modernization became very popular in the social sciences in mid-20th century, went dormant and reappeared in 1999.

The theory of modernisation has found its way into the circles of development studies. According to Moon (2004), the theory, within the space of development, has assumed very unique characteristics. It gained popular acclaim, as argued by some scholars, after it became a part of a broader ideological conflict of the Cold War and its rapid acceptance by governments in the Western world. The concept buoyed the idea of development planning and implementation, especially in non-western communities. To cause the theory's widespread acceptance, Social scientists and graduate students in America fixated their attentions on issues of economic development, stable political environment as well as socio-cultural change in societies (Tipps, 1973).

The result of this intentional focus was the emanation of variant conceptual approaches which served as routes for traditional inquiry into challenges – social, economic and cultural, bedevilling societies paving the space for further tangential expansion into the fields of development. Moon (2004) traces the modernisation theories explicit acceptance in the United States of America for instance, to President Harry Truman's inaugural speech in 1949. President Truman in his speech proposed new programmes aimed at improving scientific understanding and ensuring industrial progress and engendering growth in underdeveloped areas of the USA.

Adjei (2007) contributes to the better conceptualization of the modernization theory. He suggests that modernization is a transformative route that describes tradition and modernity as mutually exclusive. For a

society to be developed or considered developed, the author argues that traditional systems must be replaced with modern ones. This argument contends that a transformation from pre-modern approaches – traditional systems or structures, to modern structures. The author thus pits modernization to development as being the same construct. In essence, in achieving modernity, any traditional factor that tends to derail the processes must be truncated and discarded. THP- Ghana's AFSP could be situated in the frames of the modernisation theory in that, the core objective of the project was to influence growth in the rural communities through the adoption of modern methods of farming that could improve agricultural production. The adoption of new methods means the community will discard traditional and indigenous methods used by small holder famers. The route to adopting new methodologies was through education.

The influence of modernization theory, specifically its impact on planning and implementation of development strategies and interventions, in Africa, lasted until about mid-1960s (Adjei, 2007; Asante, 2015). Sectors that received a lot of focus during these development –oriented times included the private sector specifically in the extractive as well as agro-forestry businesses that fell in line with feeding European and American factories. The second strand of beneficiaries included technologically infused capital intensive projects. These structures were mostly located at vantage points in cities that made them visible to residents. The trend of modernization – areas that have witnessed renewed attention and approach to modernization, were upheld by THP project. The project sought to improve investment in the agriculture as well as expose farmers to modern methodologies in agricultural production

employing the use of simple technologies that enhance productivity and improve livelihood. The agriculture and food security programme of the Hunger Project therefore can be situated in this theory thus provides a foundation for this study.

The Concept of Livelihood

Livelihood, conceptually, refers to the activities, entitlements, and assets by which people make a living. To some scholars, a person's ability to live in a society is solely determined by his or her capacity to make a living (Chambers & Conway, 1992). Livelihood can thus be described as, a blend of capabilities and resources available to people and the activities undertaken with those resources to make a living (Chambers & Conway, 1992). Niehof and Price (2007), similarly, considered livelihood to include all the activities undertaken by people to meet their basic needs.

The livelihood system, conceptually suggests an integrated household economy where individual members participate in either market or non-market activities (Thompson, 1995). Some studies on livelihood, including, Ellis (2000) and Masaud-All-Kamal (2013), suggest that diversification choices are often determined by microeconomic logic of farming households. This is despite exogenous trends and shocks playing an important role in driving rural people towards a diversified livelihood strategy. According to Masset (2013), key assets such as savings, education, land, labour and or access to market or employment opportunities are key in making a rural household more or less capable to diversify. A household's ability to diversify or not depends on the availability of these determinants and also the household's ability to put them to judicious use in order to achieve livelihood goals.
Researchers and scholars have classified activities included in rural livelihood portfolios (Ellis, 2000; Barrett et al., 2001). Some classifications focus on different criteria, for instance, farm vs. non-farm; on-farm vs. off-farm activities; local vs. migratory; self-employment vs. wage labour. In the argument of Alobo Loison (2015), these classifications are imperative given that it allows for understanding the nature of choices contained in the livelihood diversification processes.

Hassan and Aenis (2016) think the enterprise-based diversification, due to its projected capacity to promote a more sustained rural livelihood, is ideal. A key strategy, according to them, in reducing rural poverty is the development of small-scale, labour-intensive household enterprises. Other several studies including that of Barrett, et al. (2001), Ansoms and McKay (2010) as well as Wanjala and Muradian (2013) have revealed, in different regional and local settings, that a certain cohort of farmers enjoy higher income and safer livelihood when they combine conventional farming activities with innovative rural enterprises.

Nonetheless, there is a strain of argument that small enterprise development as a way of improving rural livelihood, can become successful if conditions such as availability or access to reasonable start-up capital, which may include land, labour, credit and infrastructure in some cases especially depending on the nature of the enterprise, protection against negative shocks, supportive structures including rural enterprise policies are prioritized.

Notwithstanding, small enterprise development can become a viable pathway towards sustainable livelihoods only if some basic conditions are made available to rural households (Senadza, 2012); access to a well-

developed market, access to marketing information, and resilience against market failure are considered (Barret, Bezuneh & Aboud, 2001, Tesfaye et al., 2011).

Significant external investments in improving access to credit, natural resources, education and training, fair market outlets services, and infrastructure are thus needed to make rural enterprise development a viable and effective component of rural livelihood security and poverty alleviation policies. Achieving a sustainable livelihood, however, is not a stand-alone phenomenon. Studies have revealed that achieving a sustained livelihood, as a means of eradicating poverty, involves a complex interplay of various factors and phenomena. Some scholars believe these factors are interrelated in complex revolving web and may include constructs such as livelihood strategies, livelihood outcomes, and livelihood capital or assets. These constructs form the core for the Sustainable Livelihood Framework Designed by DFID. Concepts such as livelihood strategies, livelihood capital are closely related. Some studies have looked at the interplay between these constructs and how they influence each other.

Conceptualization of the Components of Livelihood Capitals

Research on the concept of livelihood has shown different components of livelihood. These different components, as some researchers argue, are not mutually exclusive. They are considered as inter-dependent or interrelated. According to Ellis (2000) there are five different components of livelihood. Which are in a cluster, called the livelihood capital and they include the natural, physical, human, financial or economic and social capitals. Understanding the significance of the various components of livelihood is very

essential to understanding the role each plays in attaining sustainable livelihood (Chambers & Conway, 1992).

According to Alinovi et al. (2010), these components or livelihood capitals are key determinants of strategies adopted by households in their quest to ensure improved livelihood. Less or more of any of the livelihood capitals are identified to have consequential effects on the livelihood improvement and coping. Development practitioners in the processes of implementing interventions mostly consider these livelihood capitals and weigh their projected impact on the outcome of the projects. In most cases, however, development projects and programmes are designed targeting one or two livelihood capital(s). The objective, as evidenced in some studies, is to help beneficiaries of projects improve their strategies to leverage available capitals to engender sustainable livelihood. The different livelihood capitals are conceptualized as follows;

Natural Capital

Dengerink (2013) conceives natural capital as comprising of basic environmental variables that produce material resources as well as support existing ecosystems. In other words, the natural capital serves as the producer of basic useful goods and services. Foster (2003), however, introduces the element of interactivity into his conceptualization of natural capital. To, produce the goods and services as suggested by Smith et al. (2001), humans would have to interact with the environment. This framework thus allows for the assessment of the current state and projected changes over time within the environment.

The conceptual underpinnings of natural capital, according to practitioners, have been designed by a group of academics from different fields of study or endeavor, including geographers, economists, ecologists and sociologist. The rationale for the multi-disciplinary approach to defining natural capital is to unify conceptions between two differing constructs; economic development and environmental conservation. This attempt as argued by Foster (2003) is also aimed at establishing a common route to understanding the relationship that exists between the disciplines of economics and ecology.

Natural capital, in recent times, has gained the attention of policymakers and it is being used as a tool to initiate programmes designed for conserving the environment. According to Wilcox et al. (2003), natural capital is an essential concept to discuss particularly because of its bearings on helping develop indicators for assessing ecosystem viability. Proponents that uphold economic view tend to split natural capital in three different categories. The categories include natural resource stocks, land, and ecosystems. Proponents consider natural resource stock to include the raw materials used in goods production. The stock could either be renewable or non-renewable. Daly (2007) however, contends there is an additional category of natural capital. He calls this, 'Cultivated Capital'. This, according to Daly (2007) is a mixed capital comprising of farms, forestry and other aqua-culture system. The proposed component is considered as not the handiwork of individuals. Ironically, it is not considered as entirely natural. According to Roseland (2000), cultivate capital is created when people utilize the identified elements of natural capital, altering the elements to suit their contextual needs.

Despite the variations in conceptualizing natural capital by different fields of study, there is one underlying convergence inherent amongst all the conceptions; that nature akin to capital as opposed to being factor of production. In some instances, ecologist and economists have used the term natural capital to explain the existing relationship between environment and society. Nonetheless, there is a strain of thinking that seems to suggest that, the inter-disciplinary approach adopted in conceptualizing natural capital makes it difficult to measure.

Scholars and researchers, in an attempt to make the concept of natural capital relevant in the realms of ecology and economics do ascribe to it certain features that define the term. One distinguishing feature is that, natural capital is not the creation of humans. Nonetheless, the capital could be altered or degraded as a result of human activity. According to Fang (2013), almost all of the material needs manufactured through utilization of the natural capital make up the largest proportion of human-based capital as well as services which sustain humans and other species.

Recent literature has shown offshoots of other sub-concepts originating from the broader debate and discussion around linked natural capital. At the epicenter of these concepts lies a critical debate around two related constructs; weak capital sustainability and strong capital sustainability. The defining difference here is what some studies consider as the substitutability of the components of natural capital (De Groot et al., 2003, Ekins et al., 2003). Proponents of the weak sustainability theory postulate that human-made as well as natural capitals can be substituted as far as overall capital stock is constant. On the other hand, proponents of the strong sustainability theory

object to the idea of substitutability between human-made and natural capitals. This theory, as argued in studies by De Groot et al., (2003) as well as Ekins et al., (2003).

Some scholars contend that natural capital, in the age of new information, is becoming a very complex construct. There is still a gap of clearly outlining and understanding the complex components and how these interact and impact both social and economic systems of the environment. As for any new concept that is going through the needed evolution, natural capital will surely pass through the furnace of controversy in order to be refined. One such controversy is valuing natural capital. There is a school of thought that the total value of natural capital can be ascertained when it is measured in monetary terms. There is a drawback, however, with this assumption. Quantifying the value of natural capital is problematic since little or no information exists on how to set benchmarks for appropriate prices for components in the environment. There is still an argument that placing a monetary value on the environment will have an adverse effect on it, nonetheless. Victor (2015) theorizes, however, that, such an approach will lead to unsustainable environmental consequences especially in a situation where the resource value becomes constant as a result of fluctuations in the pricing regime compared to the goods and services these resources produce.

It is noteworthy, however, that the ideation of valuing the natural environment is buoyed by the conception of understanding the value natural goods and services to sustained growth in an economy as well as the improvement in the livelihoods of the people. There is evidence that links natural capital to the buoyancy of both urban as well as rural communities.

25

Physical Capital

Physical capital, according to Dengerink (2013), is composed of the stock of human-made, material resources used in the production of continuous flow of income. Ellis (2000) provides another window of perspective by referring to the physical capital as the capital resulting from the economic production process. The physical capital can thus be conceptualized as the basic infrastructure and producer goods that support livelihoods. A look at the conceptualized definition will reveal two key defining elements, infrastructure and producer goods (DFID, 2000)

'Infrastructure' consists of alterations to the physical environment that help people to meet their basic needs and to be more productive. Producer goods are considered as the tools and equipment that people use to function productively. Infrastructure comprises of affordable transport, secure shelter, and buildings, adequate water supply and sanitation, clean and affordable energy and access to information. These are considered essential for sustainable livelihood. Infrastructure is considered a public good that is used without direct payment, with the exception of, that is in some case, shelter. Producer goods, on the other hand, are owned on individual or group basis. They may also be accessed through rental or 'fee for service' with the latter being common with more advanced equipment. However, there is skewed attention towards producer good since it can be measured easily.

Several participatory poverty assessments conducted on poverty found infrastructure as being at the core dimensions of poverty. It is evidential that without access to services such as water and energy, human health deteriorates with households spending longer periods in non-productive ventures including the collection of water and fuel-wood for energy.

There are, indeed, grave dilemma associated with inadequate infrastructure. For instance, agrarian communities may see retrogression in their livelihoods if they lack proper transport infrastructure. Poor transport infrastructure will mean extension officers will find it difficult to distribute fertilizers or transmit the relevant information to farmers to increase crop yield. Poor transport infrastructure will also lead to farmers' inability to transport their farm produce to the nearest market for sale, resulting in postharvest losses and consequently a drop in household income. In the view of Tersoo (2014), inadequate amount of producer goods can also result in constricting the productive engines of a community and can thus impact physical capital.

Physical capital, particularly infrastructure, is considered to be expensive. The argument is that it demands the huge initial capital investment and similar commitment resources, including human and financial to ensure operational maintenance. Infrastructure is perceived as an asset only when it facilitates improved services that guarantee the satisfaction of the needs of the people, especially the vulnerable.

Human Capital

Human capital, a key component of livelihood capital, refers to the quantum and value of labour available (DFID, 1999). Lloyd-Jones and Rakodi (2014), provide an alternative view to understanding human capital. They opine that the available labour resources of a household have both quantitative and qualitative characteristics. The two definitions underscore two critical

concepts that help in understanding human capital. Quantity, as used in the definitions, denotes the number or size of labour available to a household at a given time. The qualitative dimension refers to some socio-economic or socio-demographic characteristics including the level of education of the labour, skills and health status of members of the household. Lloyd-Jones and Rakodi (2014) note, skill training enhances peoples' ability to exploit economic opportunities. Findings by many researchers have found a strong positive relationship between poverty and low-levels of education and skills. (Ellis, 2000). A study has thus shown that quality and quantity of labour have a direct impact on the delivery of services.

To enhance household livelihood security, especially in the rural areas, a household must have human capital that is functionally literate and or educated; of pensionable age. These indicators are considered endowments that can lead to an improvement in livelihood. Health is also considered another key component of human capital. Chambers and Conway (1992) maintain in their study that most poor people consider their bodies as assets. Good health is deemed an essential asset since most rural people depend on physical labour for income in cash or in kind. Identified impairments in health will mean a subtle depletion of household resources. This will have negative consequences of the economic viability of the household in question.

The strength and livelihood security of a community depends on its stocks of human capital. An individual's access to livelihood assets and resources can be restricted by a lack of education or training. Health challenges have also been identified as a militating factor against the performance of certain essential tasks. Another challenge to the development of human capital is nutrition inadequacy that hampers the ability of people to perform biologically, therefore diminishing the strength and endurance and this, in turn, affects working capacity (Ellis, 2000).

Financial Capital

Financial capital refers to the available resources that people use to achieve their livelihood objectives (GLOPP, 2008). The definition, according to some researchers is not economically thorough in itself. Some studies researching to enhance the understanding of financial or economic capital, however, adopt it since it attempts to capture an important livelihood building block which is the availability of cash or its equivalent which empowers people to choose different livelihood strategies.

Financial capital has two main sources. They are one, available stocks which include savings in the form of cash, bank deposits and or liquid assets such as livestock and jewelry. A defining feature of this source of financial capital is that it does not have any liability and usually does not entail reliance over any other person. The second source of financial or economic capital is regular inflows of money. Making any improvement on a community's financial capital, therefore, will require regular reliable inflow of funds.

Financial or economic capital, within the space of development, and other disciplines have received wide attention by researchers. In rural areas where agriculture seems to be the mainstay of the local economies, programs and initiatives have targeted on strategies to improve households' or farmer's capacities to be able to generate more capital (Alinovi et al., 2010). Improvement in livelihood is determined, in most cases, by a households' ability to be economically secure.

Agricultural-led growth has in recent times seen renewed recognition as the most efficient 'engine' for economic development among pro-poor. Agricultural growth, as argued by some researchers, supply households with their basic nutritional needs and raw materials for import. There is enough evidence to corroborate the significance of agriculture-led growth. Foreign exchange is earned when raw materials are exported. Some of the other benefits of focusing on agricultural led development agenda are that it releases labour and capital to the non-farm sector, generates rural purchasing power for non-food consumer goods and services and provide new markets for the emerging manufacturing sector, especially in developing states (Smith et al., 2006; Gollin, 2010)

Henson, (2010) contends that economic growth for rural communities in most developing countries, agriculture is the most effective and the only viable sector to generate economic growth. The author further observes that agriculture has been identified as one of the huge contributors to growth in some developing countries that have witnessed rapid economic growth in recent history, whiles those that realized low economic growth experienced a real decline in agriculture.

Growth in most poor countries is driven by improved agricultural productivity which ensures the production of sufficient food, keeping prices low and improving the livelihood, either directly or indirectly, of both farm and non-farm households. Rural growth reduces poverty in both rural and urban areas, however urban growth does not reduce poverty in rural areas. Similarly, growth in the primary sector alleviates poverty in rural and urban areas, while growth in manufacturing has no impact on poverty either. (Datt & Ravallion, 2011)

Social Capital

Social capital generally is viewed as the set of norms, network, and organizations through which people gain access to power and resources that are essential in enabling decision-making and policy formulation (Dengerink, 2013). Some economists underscore the interrelationship between social capital and economic growth. Social capital in the realms of micro-economic conceptualization revolves around the capacity to improve the effective functioning of the market. The focus of analysis at this level is on how institutions, legal frameworks, and the government play a part in the organization of production and how the respective roles affect microeconomic performance.

In the view of Dodd et al. (2015), social capital can be looked as a streak of horizontal association between people whose actions have direct or indirect bearings on the productivity of the entire community. The identified interactions among the people, according to the authors, consist of 'networks of civic engagement' and social norms. Two assumptions undergird this concept of social capital. They include one, the networks and norms that are empirically interrelated. The second assumption is that these networks and norms wield the capability to influence economic decisions. What is evident in the view of Dodd et al. (2015) is that social capital facilitates coordination and cooperation for the reciprocal benefit of members of an association or a community.

According to Adams (2010), social capital should be conceptualized as variety of different entities, with two common elements. The author believes social capital comprises of some aspect of social structure and facilitates certain actions. These social aspects could be either of the two, personal or corporate actors within the structure. He further argued that there is an extension or an expansion of construct that adds to understanding of social capital. The author defines social capital to include cross-cutting associations and as well introduces a behavioral dimension. These associations, as posited, could have positive or negative implications. As bluntly put by Adam, a particular type of social capital that is considered valuable in one context could be viewed as harmful in the other. This speaks to the contextuality of associations with regards to social capital.

Some studies corroborate the relevance of social capital in coordinating growth and influencing decisions that affect the livelihood of people. A research conducted by Andrew (2010), suggests agencies mandated to deliver local public goods have the potential to impact social capital. The core argument here is that, policies planned and implemented by governments do wield a certain degree of latent power to alter the levels of social capital. A classic example is when a school decides to change its board, particularly for cohorts that believe in the participatory approach to leadership. This may lead to increased parental involvement in different activities of the school in question. This has the tendency of influencing the social capital of the community where the school is situated.

Lam and Ostrom (2010) buttress this point with a study on the design of irrigation systems. Their study illustrates how management structure of

32

irrigation systems predicted the circumstances under which beneficiaries made choices on taking collective actions. It was identified in their study that, a continuous cooperation or positive relationship affected variables such as cost sharing, power struggles and balance distribution.

Other studies, as claimed by Abbasi et al. (2014), tend to buffer suggestions regarding the historical and evolutionary beginnings of the concept of social capital. In the view of Abassi et al. (2014) for instance, the apparent differential economic standings of citizens in a certain part of Italy could be explained, largely by historical relationship between firms. Trust and reciprocity among firms are higher in regions where polycentric networks are the norm than in those where inherited networks are hierarchical or fragmented.

Literature indicates that social capital has become an attractive concept to governments and development agencies purposely because it gives decision-makers the opportunity to make decisions that allow for increased efficiency leading to the projected success of development interventions and programmes. It is assumed, however, that governments and other development partners are mandated with the responsibility to ensure the efficiency of social capital. This is because, its efficiency means economic security enjoyed by citizens of nations, particularly in the area of gainful livelihood. The understanding of social capital juxtaposed here is similar to an investment approach. It practically means that a community or society emphasizes on improving its social capital reaps the benefits of better social coherence that can engender better livelihoods. Researchers contend that despite social

capital's relatedness to nature, it is considered inheritable just like in the case of physical capital.

It is worth noting that these different livelihood capitals are not mutually exclusive, although literature points to a situation of research being over-concentrated mostly on just a few of them, predominantly financial or economic capital, to help households improve livelihood. Several studies have however shown evidence of some agricultural and food security programmes and projects improving the livelihood capital of beneficiary households and communities.

In a study conducted in Tanzania which compared the livelihood strategies and food security among a multi-cultural population of migrants and non-migrants, it was discovered that livelihood strategies and outcomes were not mutually exclusive constructs (Nyangile, 2013). The Author found that livelihood strategies and outcomes, as well as assets, were mediated or influenced, also, by certain external environmental factors. It is further mentioned that public and private organizations that lead the role in designing and implementing policies and strategies tend to create a more favourable environment that affects livelihoods (Nyangile, 2013). Some studies, however, are focused on understanding the vulnerability context – shocks, seasonality, trends and changes, and the designing of policies and interventions and institutional approaches that tend to focus on these vulnerabilities and subsequently influence the various livelihood capitals, as espoused by the framework, including human, natural, financial, social and physical capital.

There is a growing body of literature pointing to the need for the adoption of a multidisciplinary approach in achieving improved or sustained

livelihood among the vulnerable across the globe. Many practitioners within the development space, however, have conducted studies that sought to promote a multi-dimensional approach to eliminate poverty. The argument is that poverty can effectively be brought down to its barest minimum if economic, social and institutional sectors are empowered simultaneously and seamlessly synergize to improve the livelihood of the vulnerable.

Perception

Van den Ban and Hawkins (1996), defined perception as a process by which an individual receives information from his or her environment and transforms into psychological awareness. Gamble and Gamble (2002) further explained that as a process, perception involves selecting, organizing, subjectively interpreting sensory data in a way that enables individuals to make sense of the world. These two definitions clearly establish the idea that the perception process involves the use of the senses to interpret the environment.

Bampoe (2015) however revealed that there is a school of thought that believes that perception transcends just application of information by an individual. For instance, Gamble and Gamble (2002) argued that what happens in the real world may not necessarily be the same as an individual perceives a particular situation to be. This goes to suggest the interpretation of events perceived by an individual in his or her environment may contain some level of subjectivity.

General Principles of Perception

The general principles governing perception include; relativity, sensitivity, organizations, direction and cognitive style (Van den Ban & Hawkins, 1996)

Relativity

Van den Ban and Hawkins (1996) assert that an individual's perception of an issue is not absolute but relative. They explained that an individual may not be able to judge the exact weight of an object or the surface area, but may be able to tell whether it is heavier or lighter. Therefore, in designing a message, an individual's perception of any part of the message may be influenced by the context that precedes the message. The surrounding of the message is also important as it influences its perception.

Selectivity

According to Van den Ban and Hawkins (1996), individual's perception is selective at the moment the senses are receiving a host of stimuli from one's environment as the nervous system cannot make sense of all the stimuli available. One's nervous system, therefore, pays attention to a selection of stimuli.

Gamble and Gamble (2002) noted that individual's select only those experiences that reinforce existing attitudes, beliefs and values and tend to diminish the significance of those experiences that are not consistent with their existing attitudes, beliefs and values. This shows that perception is influenced by one's past experience or training or capacity building.

Organization

Individuals perception are organized in a direction that he or she can structure the sensory experience in a manner that makes sense to him or her. In a split of a second, an individual's senses process visual and aural stimuli into figures which stand out from the background. A good figure is easily attracted to a designer who wishes to incorporate that "figure" into a particular part of the message depending on how "good" is. "Closure" is also used to describe the perceptual organization (Bampoe, 2015; Sumo, 2015).

Direction

An individual perceives what he or she is "set" to perceive. Individuals' selection, organization, or interpretation of events is influenced by his/her mental set. "Set" is a key perceptual concept mostly used by communication designers to limit the alternative interpretation of the stimulus. One challenge of communicators when they expect their audiences to appreciate situations in a new way is their "perceptual set" (Van den Ban & Hawkins, 1996; Bosompem, 2006).

Gamble and Gamble (2002) indicated that age, motivation and educational level of a person are some of the factors which influence perceptual set. They further explained that experience influence the way in which stimulus is perceived since people of the same age may have different experience. Gamble and Gamble (1996) indicate that education can be a barrier to communication instead of facilitating it. This implies those same stimuli is perceived by individuals differently and learn lessons in life differently.

Cognitive Style

According to Van den Ban & Hawkins (1996), perception differs from one to another due to differences in cognitive style of individuals. A person's mental process works remarkably in different ways depending on personality factors such as a tolerance for ambiguity, degree of "close" and "open" mindedness and authoritarianism. Once it is not practicably possible for an individual to design different messages by combining all cognitive styles among his audience, "message redundancy" is recommended. This is a term that is used to describe how an individual should adopt a strategy by which the same idea is presented in a number of different ways which will appeal to most cognitive styles (Van den Ban & Hawkins, 1996).

Measuring Impact of Agricultural Interventions

Globally, agricultural development programmes, with different objectives and approaches have been implemented in many countries by governments, development partners and NGOs as part of overall national, regional development strategies with mixed outcome and results (Adu et al., 2018). According to Masset et al. (2011), agricultural development interventions began with a focus on increasing productivity and food production because lack of food was regarded as the cause of undernourishment.

Several studies have taken into consideration the analysis of available data to improve understanding on ways in which agricultural interventions can be leveraged on to enhance the nutritional status of some population (Pandey, Dev & Jayachandran, 2016). Researchers in the field of development have adopted different methodologies to measuring outcomes of agricultural

interventions taking into consideration the intervention's impact on food security, improved livelihood, increased household income and poverty reduction (Adeleke-Bello & Ahimolowo, 2015). According to Zhen and Routray (2003), the selection of effective indicators is relevant to the success of monitoring an implemented agricultural program or project. The two argue that preference for indicators must satisfy certain criteria – must be globally applicable, comprehensive, realistic and comparable.

Impact evaluation is widespread in current literature. In fact, there is a long history of the conduct of impact evaluation of social programmes and agricultural programmes. According to Winters, Salazar and Maffioli (2010), due to the ease in identifying indicators of impact in the social sector, impact evaluation is usually carried on social programmes but however limited in the case of agricultural interventions. Winters et al., (2010), as well as Del Carpio and Maredia (2011), pointed out that many different approaches that aim to infer causality are used for assessing the impact of interventions. Quasi and non – experimental approaches, experimental design, impact evaluation, impact studies and formal surveys were some of the methods suggested for used in evaluating the impact of agricultural interventions (Winters et al., 2010). Del Carpio and Maredia (2011) suggested that in order to effectively evaluate the impact of agricultural interventions on beneficiaries' livelihood, evaluative tools must be prepared using clearly defined guidelines ahead of implementation of the project.

According to UNDP (2009), when measuring impact, it is very important to focus on the results of the activities that brought about the impact rather than mere completion of the activities. They argued that the mere

completion of activities of a project does not fully reveal the change it brings to the lives of the beneficiaries of the project. Simula et al., (2010) suggested that impact must be measured on interventions that closely target specific substantive, often technically-oriented, themes to deliver verifiable impact.

Additionally, the authors pointed out that impact must be assessed with a focus on problems which simultaneous intervention in more than one impact area are necessary. UNDP (2001) explained that impact is assessed to bring out the effect of the intervention on the target beneficiaries, gender and the environment. The UNDP (2009), therefore prescribed the use of terms such as improved, strengthened, increase or reduced to reflect the global, national or local as well as the political and socioeconomic conditions in which beneficiaries of interventions find themselves.

Measuring Effectiveness of Agricultural Interventions

According to the UNDP (2001) effectiveness of a particular intervention is defined by the degree to which a project was able to achieve its set targets or objectives for which the project was implemented. The achievement of the objectives of a particular intervention, as construed by the UNDP, is independent of cost. Thus, the effectiveness of a project can only be **NOBIS** seen as its ability to achieve set goals or objectives without recourse to the cost involved in achieving the set targets goals or objectives. Piciotto (2013) adds, the effectiveness of an intervention is measured by its ability to record desired changes or progress toward the expected changes factoring their comparative relevance.

The imperative of measuring effectiveness of programmes or interventions is critical to many development organizations across the globe.

For most of them, measuring a project's or an intervention's effectiveness affords them the opportunity to understand the factors that led to the success or otherwise of their interventions and draw lessons that can inform decisions on the next line of action. According to the UNDP (2001), for instance, attention should be given to the cause and effect of the intervention which will allow for accurate attribution of observable changes to the activities implemented in the project. It thus helps implementers to understand the relationships between variables in their interventions.

The assumption of the UNDP (2009) on the measuring the effectiveness of an intervention is supported by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). According to the OECD (2000), the evaluation of project or programme effectiveness should take into consideration the degree to which the objectives of a project have been achieved and factors that caused those changes or otherwise. A key approach, especially during the evaluation process – as proposed by the OECD, is to attempt to understand the major factors that might have contributed to the achievement or otherwise of the project objectives (OECD, 2000). Another key point to consider in evaluating the effectiveness of an intervention is to assess how the intervention itself contributed to the outcomes intended for the programme (UNDP, 2009).

One major challenge, according to UNDP (2001), in measuring effectiveness of development programmes or interventions is the lack of credible information and defective monitoring approaches in some cases. This challenge has been further compounded by inconsistencies and little-to-no evidence on evaluating the effectiveness of agricultural interventions especially in developing countries (Del Carpio & Maredia, 2011).

Impact of Agriculture and Food Security Programmes on Livelihoods

Many studies on agriculture and food security programmes have focused on finding the impact of the interventions on livelihood capitals; physical, financial, natural, social or human. A study by Ephraim and Arene (2015), for example, which sought to measure the impact of the National Special Programme for Food Security on productivity and income of beneficiary in Plateau State, Nigeria, found a positive correlation between the intervention and an increase in income of beneficiaries of the project. In other words, the project was found to have improved the financial capital of the beneficiaries.

It has been argued that a household coping strategy in times of shock and hardships, to a larger extent, depends on the available options including capabilities, assets – both material and social resources and activities (Alinovi et al., 2010). The implication is that a single livelihood capital cannot be considered as the sole factor influencing the overall livelihood improvement of a selected group of individuals. Rais et al., (2009), in the study to understand the relationship between dairy farming and livelihood improvement among women under Grameen Bank support in a Rangpur District in Bangladesh found that there was an improvement in the income of the dairy farmers. In general, the average per family total income increased by 87.51%. In a similar study conducted in Fatehgarh Sahib District of Punjab, India, by Maviet et al. (2006) on the impact of self-employment programme on dairy farming

revealed a significant increase in total income of the farmers after participation in the programme.

Ravallion (2009), did an assessment of how employment guarantee schemes affected beneficiaries' livelihood. The study found that there was position correlation between the two aforementioned variables of the study. In explaining, Ravallion (2009) mentioned the schemes were designed as stopgap measures to bring equilibrium into the growth process. He recommends however that, one key measure to ensure a sustained growth-specifically on the income of beneficiaries, should be to find means of continuously and efficiently routing resources to the poorest in society. How, the success of the programme, especially in low-income groups, is highly dependent on identified political and economic constraints that policy makers are willing to deal with. According to him, economic constraints should be construed as the work requirements that presents the opportunity cost of additional income not gained. Ravallion (2009) reveals that factors such as local administrators may represent political constraints. Political and personal innuendos are likely worsen and to larger extent negatively impact performance. The recommendation, however, is that beneficiaries are selected only on ideal means test basis.

In a research conducted in Jhunjhunu (Rajasthan) to evaluate the impact of an agricultural intervention programme, Swarnajayanti Gram Swarojgar Yojana (SGSY), Hari and Kumawat (2006) revealed that farmers with smaller land sizes who received aid from SGSY for buffalo rearing, for instance, were marked to see increases in their annual incomes. Further findings also show that there was an increase in employment resulting from

the buffalo rearing. Farmers who were not direct beneficiaries of the programme were also identified to have benefitted from the programme.

A similar finding has been made in a study by Jayachandra and Naidu (2006). The study's main objective was to assess the level of impact of dairy cooperatives on variables including employment creation as well as creation of assets among marginal and small-holder farmers. This research revealed that there was an increase in the annual income of small-holder farmers and marginal farmers who benefitted from the project. Alinovi et al., (2010) in their study mention the adoption of multiple strategies for smallholder farmers and pastoralists including the expansion of horticulture, increased income from tourism and a greater and effective demand provided by population growth to boost the economic opportunities. These strategies are deemed as innovative means to cope with long dry spells or droughts that occasionally bring subsistence farming to a halt in most parts of northern Kenya (Alinovi et al., 2010).

Ding, et al. (2018), for instance, in their study on how livelihood capitals influence strategies among herdsmen in Inner Mongolia found a rather strong relationship between income that was generated as result of livestock rearing activities and herders' living strategies. They also found a strong relationship between income and farmers' ability to survive livelihood shocks. Results from their study revealed the choice of livelihood strategy was influenced by the physical and financial capitals. The findings were consistent with an earlier study conducted by Walelign (2016) who found that physical and financial capitals were considered instrumental to livelihood transition among herders.

In a systematic review of agricultural and food security intervention programmes in Ghana, about 44% of the studies reviewed reported increases in income levels of beneficiaries. About seven out of the 12 studies that reported increases in income levels provided numerical evidence of improved income levels of beneficiaries after a given food security intervention (Adu et al., 2018). The remaining studies, however, also showed a percentage increase in incomes without stating the base. Nonetheless, the analysis indicated that the unit of measurement for the studies that reported numerical evidence of an increase in income of farmers was inconsistent making statistical analysis difficult.

Agricultural Interventions by NGOs and their effect on Beneficiaries

Development interventions are programmes fashioned out by organizations which have the passion to assist the poor and marginalized in society (Okorley et. al., 2012). Dale (2004) and Asante (2015) observed that these intervention programmes may consist of a number of activities implemented by development organizations in accordance with laid down principles and rules. Development programmes as asserted by Cummings and Worley (2009) may consist of several projects.

According to Okorley et al. (2012) and Asante (2015), development interventions must be people-centred since they are meant to change and better the lives of beneficiaries. Dale (2004) also pointed out that interventions must be looked at from a bigger societal point of view based on changes it has brought in the society. Intervention therefore, must impact on the material and economic conditions of the beneficiaries in terms of alternative forms of livelihood and marketing of farm produce in rural areas. Asante (2015)

pointed out education, skill development and technology management as some of the agricultural interventions that development organizations implement to help farmers out of poverty. Development organizations are also known to create market access for their beneficiary farmers through skills training, provision of inputs, agro-processing technology, market linkages, financial support and market information (Kindness & Gordon, 2001; Vaidya, 2009).

Asante (2015) and Bampoe (2015) outlined the following activities as intervening areas where agricultural NGOs concentrate their efforts to help rural farmers to overcome poverty and hunger. These areas include; land preparation, soil fertility management, cultural practices, input supply and extension delivery. They concluded that most of these agricultural interventional activities have contributed significantly to improving the wellbeing of beneficiaries.

Arifur and Zarin (2017) observed that agricultural interventions mostly aim at increasing income of beneficiary households by enhancing knowledge and practice of farmers to achieving better productivity and efficiency in the agricultural value chains. The authors posited further that agricultural interventions result in increased access to quality inputs, knowledge on cultivation and post-harvest techniques which increase yield leading to increased household income. They further observed that better market linkage empowers farmers to negotiate for better prices for produce (Arifur & Zarin, 2017). Takyiwaa (2012) also concluded that farmers' ability to negotiate for better prices can lead to an increase in household income which may influence livelihoods positively. These positive influences may

translate into better feeding, clothing, ability to support their children's education and health.

Perceived Effectiveness of Agriculture and Food Security Programmes on Livelihoods

According to Adeogun and Agwu (2019), beneficiaries' perception on the effectiveness of agricultural intervention is critical to the success of the programme. The authors observed that such feedbacks help programme implementers to know what beneficiaries think about their efforts and therefore help to shape the programme. This explains why, beneficiaries' perception on agricultural interventions has become a subject of interest to many researchers.

In a study examining the perception of farmers on selected agricultural empowerment project targeting women in rural areas in Ogun State, Nigeria, Adeleke-Bello and Ahimolowo (2015) found that rural women, who benefitted from the projects generally perceived the programme to have been very effective in improving their livelihoods. Many testified the project had improved their access to credit facilities, knowledge and skills, business expansion, balanced emotion and increased income respectively (Adeleke-Bello & Ahimolowo, 2015).

An evaluation of Ghana's Medium Term Agriculture Sector Investment Plan (METASIP) on food security by Boateng et al. (2014), revealed that respondents perceived the project to have been effective in improving their livelihood. The respondents of the study cited improved productivity as result of increased access to fertilizer, seeds and access to agricultural information as the basis for their conclusion. In a study by Bampoe (2015), on perceived effectiveness of the West Africa Agricultural Productivity Programme (WAAPP) on the livelihood of cassava farmers in the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana concluded that, the farmers generally perceived the programme as being very effective in improving their livelihood. Specifically, the study revealed that the supply of planting materials was a major contributor to the perceived effectiveness of the programme on their livelihood. The study further revealed that input supply and extension service provision were respectively perceived as effective and moderately effective in improving the livelihoods of the farmers involved in the study. Similar finding was made by Rusike et al., (2014) in the Democratic Republic of Congo in a study on cassava farmers.

Similarly, in Enugu State, Nigeria, Adeogun and Agwu (2019) reported that beneficiaries of the West Africa Agricultural Productivity Programme, perceived the programme as effective. Agbareva (2013) also concluded in a study on an agricultural intervention in Cross- River State, Nigeria, that farmers who benefited from the project perceived the agricultural extension delivery programme component as effective in improving their livelihoods. Nyaaba (2016) studied the perception of beneficiaries on the effectiveness of fertilizer subsidy programme, in the Sene East and West Districts of the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana. The study revealed that the programme was generally perceived by farmers as effective in improving their livelihood.

Sawant et al. (2003) submitted that educational level of farmers have a relationship with perceived effectiveness of agricultural interventions. In a study on the level of education and perceived effectiveness of extension

system in Maha, India, the authors found that people who had some level of education perceived the extension system in Maha to be effective. More (2014) however, contradicted this finding in a similar study which found no relationship between educational level and perceived effectiveness. The author established that when farmers are taken through skill-based training, both the uneducated and the educated would be able to perform similar operations.

Empirical Studies on Perceived Impact of Agricultural Intervention on Livelihoods

Several studies have been conducted on the perception of beneficiaries with regards to the impact of agricultural interventions on livelihood. In a study to examine perceived impact of the West Africa Agricultural Productivity Programme in Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana, it was observed by Bampoe (2015), that farmers who benefited from the programme perceived its impact on their livelihood as 'moderately high'. Specifically, the results indicated that farmers perceived the programmes' impact on their natural capitals as 'high' while the impact on physical, social, financial and human capitals was perceived as "moderately high".

In another study by Sumo (2015), project beneficiaries of the **NOBIS** Agricultural Sector Rehabilitation Programme in Liberia, perceived the programme as having moderate impact on the livelihood of farmers. The study further revealed that respondents' perception of the impact of the programme on their financial, social, physical and financial status were moderately high.

In Kwara State, Nigeria, a study on the effect of agricultural programme (Fadama III) on livelihood of the vulnerable by Abikoye et al. (2015), revealed a 'high' perceived impact of the programme by the

beneficiaries. The authors submitted that beneficiaries perceived the impact of the programme to be 'higher' on their financial capital in the form of increased income levels. The study further reported that beneficiaries perceived the impact of the programme on their social capital as 'moderately high'.

Beneficiaries of the Cocoa High Technology Programme in the Eastern Region of Ghana indicated an improvement in all aspects of their livelihood capitals as revealed by Bosompem et al. (2011). The study further revealed that farmers perceived the impact of the programme on their natural and physical capitals as 'high'. They, however, perceived the impact of the programme on their social, financial and their human capitals as 'average'.

Profile and Activities of the Hunger Project – Ghana (THP-Ghana)

The Hunger Project (THP) is an international strategic non-profit organization that seeks to bring an end of global hunger and poverty particularly in Africa, South-East Asia and Latin America. The organization with funding from its partner countries empowers rural communities in these countries to become self-reliant in meeting their basic needs and build a better future for their children (Takyiwaa, 2012).

The Hunger Project-Ghana, since its arrival in Ghana, has been **NOBIS** partnering local government bodies in an attempt to ensure local ownership of their programme or interventions. In their project communities, THP-Ghana includes the women leadership who are in many cases accountable to the local people and provide the needed resources and information (Takyiwaa, 2012). In an attempt to shift power to the local people and to strengthen local governance, THP adopts a 'Top-Down Approach' advocating for policy changes as well as the enactment of laws that will benefit local farmers.

50

The Hunger Project through its integrated rural community strategy mobilizes communities into clusters (epicentre) where women and men are empowered to create and run their own programmes to satisfy their basic needs. According to Takyiwaa (2012) this system has been successful in helping many men and women in many rural communities in Africa to be selfreliant. Among the support communities receive from The Hunger Project include; community banks (microfinance), clinic, pre-school centre, food bank storage facility and conference centre all in a physical infrastructure called epicentre. An epicentre is considered self-reliant within an eight-year period after several phases of support. At this point, every form of support ceases and the epicentre is considered capable to fund its own activities.

The microfinance programme was originally implemented as an independent programme in 1999 under the name the African Women Food Farmer Initiative-AWFI. The programme seeks to end hunger in Africa through training, savings and provision of credit to women farmers in Africa who are very important food producers but the least supported (Takyiwaa, 2012). In 2003, the programme was incorporated into THP's Epicentre Strategy. THP's micro-finance intervention could be considered a crucial strategic mechanism being used to engender access to capital by women and to promote their economic empowerment. Women are therefore the main target of the micro-finance programme. Consequently, 80% of loans disbursed out about Ghc 180, 000 in 2008, were given to women. The loans were disbursed through the community banks managed by members of the committee in the epicentres and were expected to be repaid on time.

According to Takyiwaa (2012), several communities were supported with farm inputs such as fertilizers, insecticides and improved seeds to ensure increased food production and security in line with their capacity building and community empowerment principles. The supply of farm inputs to farmers is demand-driven and based on one's ability to pay the subsidized cost. THP has resorted to the training and use of Agricultural Trainers of Trainers (Agric. ToTs) as an innovative way of overcoming the shortage of Agricultural Extension Officers. The trained Agricultural Trainer of Trainers (Agric ToTs) have played a major role in sensitizing communities on improved and modern methods of farming to ensure increased food production and security (Takyiwaa, 2012). The Hunger Project also facilitates the provision of food bank storage technology that is supposed to store the produce of farmers in the community to help reduce post-harvest loss. Furthermore, a school facility is provided in the epicentre to cater for the education of the children and noneducated adults in the communities.

In line with its objective to improve agriculture to achieve food security, THP trained sixty (60) farmer groups, provided eight hundred and seventy-six (876) with loans from the epicentre system and sensitized fourteen thousand, seven hundred and seventy-four (14,774) farmers on the importance of agricultural credit and micro-insurance (Takyiwaa, 2012).

Socio-economic and Demographic Characteristics of Beneficiaries of

Agriculture and Food Security Programmes

The relevance of socio-economic and demographic characteristics of agriculture and food security beneficiaries, have been underscored by many authors. For instance, Harris-Fry et al. (2015); Chen et al. (2015); Mensah, et

al. (2013) have all contended that knowing the demographic or socioeconomic characteristics will streamline the programme to benefit those who actually need help. Ephraim and Arene (2015) contended that socio-economic and demographic characteristics to a large extent affects productivity and income and the success of food security interventions. Ngema, Sibanda and Musemwa (2018) as well as Nyangasa et al. (2019) indicated that number of dependents, gender and alternative source of income are very vital in implementing food security programmes.

This study therefore, reviewed literature on socioeconomic and demographic variables such as; age, marital status, sex, educational background, farming experience, farm size, number of dependents, alternative source of income as well as yield of maize. Other socioeconomic and demographic variables the study considered were; source of agricultural credit, source of agricultural information, source of agricultural credit, market outlets, source of farm inputs and source of agricultural labour.

Age of Beneficiaries

Babatunde et al., (2007) assert that farmers' labour supply for food production can be influenced by age. They argued that younger energetic farmers can provide energy for larger farms and can secure off-farm jobs income compared to weaker and older farmers. They added that age influences the ability to look for, and obtain off-farm job income which younger farmers can do better. Other authors, however, believe that advance age of farmers make them more food secured since they become more experienced over time in decision making regarding risk avoidance, adoption of improved agricultural technology and other production decisions (Ojuekaiye, Ogundari & Ojo 2006; Arene & Anyaeje 2010). The average age of farmers in Ghanaian communities was found to be between 30-54 years as evidenced by Asante, 2015; Nyaaba, 2016 and Bampoe, 2015, a scenario which is good for agricultural development in farming communities of Ghana since the younger farmers would be able to provide labour, while the fairly older ones would use their experience in farming to avert risk by taking good decisions. Oluyole, Ogundale and Agbeniyi, (2011), also submitted that farmers within this age bracket are able to bear or cope with the physical demands of agricultural production in rural areas.

Marital Status of Beneficiaries

The importance of beneficiary's marital status on agricultural production is found in the availability of family labour. Married farmers are expected to have available labour for agricultural production as compared to the unmarried farmers. Majority, (93.6%) of farmers in a study by Kolawole et al. (2012) on farmers' perception of 'sawah' rice production technology were found to be married. Kuwornu et al., (2013a), also reported in their study of food security status among households in farming communities in the forest and coastal belts of the Central Region that, majority (76.6%) of the farmers were married. This development was likely to increase labour availability for agricultural production as children of the family would complement the labour output of their parents which will reduce labour cost (Garba, Jamala & Shaibu, 2011)

Sex of Beneficiaries

Generally, studies on sex in relation to farming have revealed that more men are involved in farming than women, though farming may not be

the preserve of males. This claim however may be debatable given the plethora of literature that lends credence to a counterclaim that females are the largest agricultural food producers (Beyene &Muche, 2010).

This widely held assertion was evident in Garba et al., (2011) who reported that almost 98% of farmers involved in the sawah rice project in Nigeria were males. A study conducted by MoFA (2011) on farmerbeneficiaries in agricultural extension services in Ghana, revealed that majority of males were into farming than females. Also, more males were found to be engaging in farming than females in a developmental study conducted by ISSER (2012) on the MiDA commercial agricultural project. Asante (2015) reported a marginal increase in the number of males compared to females who were involved in the Southern Horticultural Belt study. There was however a contradictory finding in Bampoe (2015), which found majority of cassava farmers in his study to be females. He also explained that his finding was consistent with the widely held notion that cassava is 'woman's crop' hence the lower representation of men involved in the production of the crop. The above scenarios in the literature show that one cannot be quick to generalize in terms of male-female representation in agricultural production without recourse to the type of crop under consideration.

Educational Level of Beneficiaries

Farmer's educational level is important in agricultural production because of its implications on productivity. In their study on cassava farmers, Anyanwu, et al. (2012) pointed out that, an improvement in the educational level of farmers has a direct relationship to their orientation towards cassava production for the market. Thus, less educated farmers are less willing to
accept innovative ways of farming because they tend to be more conservative (Ani, 2004). The study further asserted that a low level of education also results in low productivity since such farmers rely on the use of indigenous farming practices. It has been revealed in various studies that farmers in many farming communities have some level of education, at the basic level or higher.

MoFA (2011), revealed that majority of farmers (71.5%) had some form of formal education compared 28.5% who had no education. Similarly, 67.4% of farmers surveyed by ISSER (2012) in the developmental study were found to be graduates of various levels of education. Garber et al., (2011) found 21% of his respondents in their study to be graduates of various tertiary institutions. Therefore, one may be wrong to assume that, farming is an occupation for the illiterates.

Years of Farming Experience of Beneficiaries

According to Bampoe (2015), farmers' long period of experience tends to make them more productive due to the long period of knowledge accumulation. In their view, Amaza et al., (2009) pointed out that, years of farming experience may impact either positively or negatively on productivity. They posit that years of farming experience would be positive up to a certain period after which it turns negative. They attributed the period of the negative effect of farming experience on factors such as age or unwillingness to adopt innovative techniques of farming after getting used to particular farming regimen.

The mean years of farming experience were found to be 11 years whilst the minimum and maximum years of experience was 4 years and 40 years respectively (MoFA, 2011). Asante (2015) also reported 4 to 30 as the years of farming experience in a study conducted in the Efutu Municipality of the Central Region of Ghana. It can be deduced from the above that farmers in most farming communities have a depth of experience, which can enhance their productivity.

Farm Size Cultivated by Beneficiaries

The size of farm of a household determines whether it should be classified as small scale, large scale or medium scale. Asante (2015) found majority of farmers interviewed in his study in the Efutu Municipality had land sizes ranging from 0.2ha to 2.0ha. Similar studies conducted by Nwanze, (2011) and Bampoe (2015) also revealed that the average household farm size ranged between 1ha to 3ha. It can be implied from the above information that most of the farmers in farming communities are small scale farmers. This may have consequences on their earnings from their farming activities. Anyanwu (2009) asserts that land size under cultivation by a household influences the returns gained from the farming activities.

Number of Dependants

Household size affects farm size in traditional farming communities as it influences the availability of labour. Nani (2005) pointed out that larger household guarantees availability and accessibility of labour for agricultural activities. A larger household size promotes higher productivity and food security. Nandi, Gunn and Yukushi (2011), found a positive impact of larger households on cassava farmers in Nigeria. Ojogho (2010) however argue that a larger household with a large number of non-working members can have a negative impact on the resources of the family.

Alternative Source of Income

According to Kuwornu et al., (2013a) and Amaza et al., (2009) farmers engage in other forms of activities to supplement their earnings from farming activities in sub-Saharan Africa. Gardening was reported as the alternative source of income for farmers in Liberia (World Bank, 2010). A study by Sumo (2015) revealed that farmers resort to providing services for other farmers, charcoal burning, and rubber tapping as some of the alternative sources of income of farmers in Liberia. Gyampoh et al. (2011), reported in their study of farming communities in the forest, coastal and savannah ecological zone that farmers engage in livestock and fowl sales, fetching of water, firewood, picking of shea nuts and 'dawadawa' as alternative sources of income to supplement their income from farming.

Yield of Maize (kg/acre)

The World Bank's strategy for agricultural development focus on crop area, crop production and yield as the three most significant parameters in agriculture and rural statistics (World Bank, 2010). It recognizes crop yield as one of the important benchmarks for measuring agricultural development. FAO, (2010) indicated that a total yield of 2.4 to 3.6 metric tonnes per hectare of unprocessed paddy rice was recorded in Ghana. A yield of 1.4 and 1.6 metric tonnes per hectare was recorded for maize and chilli pepper respectively in a study conducted in the Southern Horticultural Belt (Asante, 2015).

Studies have shown that, farmers who receive an agricultural intervention usually record an increase in their yield after the intervention. For instance, a study by Bosompem et al., (2011) on the perceived impact of the

cocoa hi-tech programme revealed an improvement in farmers yield after benefiting from the programme compared. Also, the yields of farmers who participated in the Fadama III programme in Nigeria recorded improvements in their yields after joining benefiting from the programme (Abikoye, Adesiji & Falola, 2015). Other studies reporting similar outcomes include Bampoe (2015) and Sumo (2015).

Source of Agricultural Information

The adoption and usage of agricultural technology by farmers is done through the use of appropriate media to disseminate information. Information dissemination is therefore very important for technology adoption by farmers and agricultural development. Agricultural change can occur when there is development and dissemination of right information at the appropriate time (Fawole, 2008; Asiedu-Darko, 2013). Dissemination of well-packaged, simple and easily understood information is important for technology adoption by farmers. Iwuchuku, Uodye and Onubuya (2013) explained that farmers adopt technology when they are well trained on its application.

Studies have shown that farmers have different media through which they access information. Iwuchuku et al. (2013) and Fawole (2008) cited farming associations, television, radio, neighbours, newspapers, and extension officers as some of the examples of the medium through which farmer's access agricultural information. Iwuchuku et al. (2013) further added government institutions, NGOs, research institutions and farmer organizations as additional sources of agricultural information.

A study by Asante (2015), on the organizational effectiveness of MiDA project in the Effutu Municipality, revealed that the majority (95.9%) of the beneficiary farmers, used agricultural extension agent as their source agricultural information. The study further revealed that 52.9% relied on input dealers while 50.6%, 42.8 %, and 10.6% relied on friends, radio programmes and NGOs respectively. Adio et al. (2016), also reported in study conducted in Kwara State, Nigeria, specifically on farmers sources agricultural information, found that farmers tend to rely more on their friends than agricultural extension officers. A similar study conducted by Nakano et al. (2018), on the impact of the training on technology among rice farmers in Tanzania revealed that 92% of the farmers receive agricultural information.

Sources of Funds for Agricultural Production

Access to credit is very important to agricultural production. Musiime and Atuha (2011) and Bekele (2017), identified microfinance, commercial banks, shopkeepers, money lenders, suppliers, friends and family members as some of the sources of credit for farmers. Farmers may often access credit, to hire labour or tractor for land preparation, solve problems of cash flow, buy inputs, and increase their size of production or to acquire new machinery (Musiimi & Atuha, 2011). For this reason, Bekele (2017) asserted that credit availability and accessibility are very important to agricultural development. He, however, argued that the availability of credit does not guarantee its access since most farmers are not able to satisfy the stringent conditions attached to the credit. As observed by Musiimi and Atuha (2011), farmer's ability to secure credit is influenced by their capacity to provide collateral which they may not have. Majority of stallholder farmers were found to rely on their personal savings as well as proceeds from the sale of their produce in a study by Asante (2015).

Market Outlets

A market is a place for exchanging inputs for factors of production and outputs for agricultural produce (Amrouk et al., 2013). Over the years, many African countries have concentrated on increasing productivity, without paying equal attention to reliable marketing outlets where produce would be sold after harvesting (AGRA, 2010). Mutero, Manapo, and Seaketso (2016) observed that improved market access helps in preventing gluts and sustains technology adoption by farmers. They further pointed out that, farmers use the farm gate, middlemen and the open market as outlets for the sale of their produce. Asante (2015), also added aggregators, exporters and the local markets as some of the avenues through which farmers sell their farm produce.

It was found in a study by Mutero et al. (2016), that 79% of farmers involved in a study conducted in the Ethekwini Metropolitan, South Africa on the operational challenges of smallholder farmers, sold their produce at the farm gate. The study further reported that 41% sold their produce to middlemen while 10% indicated that their produce was sold on the open market. Asante (2015) also indicated that 94% of the MiDA beneficiaries in the Effutu Municipality used the open market to sell their farm produce. It was further revealed that 59% of the farmers used the farm gates in selling their produce while 37.6% and 32.4% sold their produce to aggregators and exporters respectively.

Source of Farm Input

Farm inputs are very essential to agricultural development and reduction in rural poverty (Belt et al., 2015). It has been established that for agriculture to develop, farm inputs must be made accessible, available and affordable to farmers (AGRA, 2013; FAO, 2013 &World Bank, 2013). SMART Project (2012), observed that one of the major constraints limiting improved agricultural productivity among smallholder farmers is the cost of access to inputs such as fertilizers, insecticides, improved seeds, and farm equipment. Seini et al. (2011) also observed that lack of appropriate framework on the marketing and supplying of farm inputs are also contributors to factors limiting the productivity of small-scale farmers.

Access to farm inputs is said to lead to improved agricultural productivity and increased profit thus promoting increased agricultural investment. Wholesale shops, local market outlets state agricultural institutions and NGOs are some of the sources input for farmers (Belt et al., 2016; FAO, 2014; Sieni et al., 2011). The MiDA study in the Effutu Municipality by Asante (2015) found majority of the beneficiaries relied on the open market for their inputs while 17% had their inputs from MoFA. It was further reported by the study that 5.9% of the respondents relied on NGOs for their farm inputs.

Source of Agricultural Labour

Gollin (2019), observed that apart from land, the most important input in agricultural production is labour, therefore, its availability, use pattern, and intensity is of key interest to many in the world especially, in sub- Saharan Africa. The number of persons in a household and strength level as well as their education and skill sets, to a larger extent, serves as a foundation for the development of a household's livelihood strategies (Takane, 2008). Among smallholder farmers, the main source of labour in agricultural production is family labour which is supplemented by hired labour on seasonal basis (FAO, 2015). Gollin (2019) indicates that agricultural labour is important at all levels of agricultural production including land preparation, planting, weed control, harvesting and storage of produce, marketing of agricultural produce, maintenance of agricultural tools and equipment.

Conceptual Framework of the Study

To determine the perceived impact of the agriculture and food security programme, the study considered the perceived impact of the components such input supply, extension services and training, farm credit, storage of produce, and market link and networks on the livelihood of the beneficiaries.



Socioeconomic and Demographic Characteristics Sex, Age, Marital Status, Household Size, Educational Level, Alternative Source of Income, Farm Size, Yield, Source of Credit

Figure 1: Conceptual Framework for Assessing the Perceived Impact of the AFSP on Livelihood in the Mfantsiman Municipality

Source: Adapted from Sumo (2015).

Literature has revealed that when farmers receive the relevant inputs, it leads to a change in behaviour which translates into an improvement in their livelihood (Sumo, 2015). These relevant inputs are those farmers need to improve their production and their livelihood. The relevant inputs in the study are programme component such as; input supply (seeds, insecticides, fertilizer, cutlasses) and other services such as extension services and training, farm credit, storage facilities and market links and networks. The provision of these inputs and access to services such as extension and training on good agricultural practices may lead to improved productivity and increased food production. This may eventually lead to improvement of the livelihood capitals of farmers.

The improvement in livelihood however can be caused by factors other than the programme components. Literature revealed that socio-economic and demographic characteristics of beneficiaries such as sex, source of income, marital status, household size, and educational level, age, farm size, and yield among others may have influence on the improvement in livelihood of beneficiaries. These factors may help explain the variations in the perceived impact of the Hunger Projects' agriculture and food security programme.

NOBIS

CHAPTER THREE

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

Introduction

The methodology and procedures used to examine the perceived impact of the agriculture and food security programme of The Hunger Project on the livelihood of beneficiaries in the Mfantsiman Municipality of the Central Region of Ghana are presented in this chapter. Sections of this chapter include the study area, research design, study population, sample and sampling procedure, instrumentation, collection of data and analysis procedures.

Study Area

The research was conducted in the Mfantsiman Municipality of the Central Region of Ghana. The Municipality lies within latitude 5°.07′ to 5°.20′ north of the Equator and between longitude 0°.44′ to 1°.11′ west of Greenwich meridian. Dominase, Anomabu, Mankessim, Kormantse, Abandze, Narkwa and Yamoransa are the major communities in the Municipality. It is bounded to the east by the Gomoa West District, west by the Ekumfi District, south by the Gulf of Guinea and north by the Ajumako-Enyan- Essiam District. The Municipality covers a total land area of approximately 612 square kilometres (Ghana Statistical Service, 2014). The population of the municipality was estimated at 144,332 at the census in 2010. About 55 percent of the inhabitants are females. A staggering proportion of the population the municipality, about 64.9 percent, is located in urban settlements. About 35.1 percent people living in rural settlements (Ghana Statistical Service, 2014).

In terms of agriculture, almost every three out of ten households in the Municipality are engaged in agriculture. The majority (83.4 per cent) of farmers grow crops while the remaining is into livestock farming (Ghana Statistical Service, 2014). The vegetation is mainly secondary forest with thickets of an average height of 4.5m. The coastline is about 40km long with temperatures ranging from 24°C to 28°C and a relative humidity of about 70 percent. There are two seasons of rainfall with peaks in May-June and October. The total annual rainfall ranges between 90cm and 110cm along the coast and between 110cm to 160cm in the hinterland. The Harmattan is experienced between November and February each year. The available land for agriculture is about 49,000ha. Farmers predominantly cultivate vegetables, particularly garden eggs and pepper, tomatoes, cabbage and okra. Crops including maize, cassava, plantain, pineapples and also citrus, oil palm, cocoa, sugarcane and cashew are also grown in the Municipality.

According to the Ghana Statistical Service (2014), there are few industries found in the Municipality. These include; local gin distilleries at Mankessim, Abanze and Egyaa No.1, 2 and 3. Other industries include soap making at Mankessim, boat building at Anomabo, sawmilling at Mankessim and Biriwa, sachet water production at Saltpond and Mankessim. Salt production is also carried out on a large scale at Adambo near Anomabu. The NGOs in the Municipality are Adventist Development and Relief Agency (ADRA), World Vision International (WVI), International Association for the Advancement of Women in Africa (ASAWA), Plan International, Compassion International and The Hunger Project.



Figure 2: Map of Mfantsiman Municipality, showing the study communities in red dots

Source: Department of Geography and Regional Planning, UCC

Research Design

The research design defines the structure of the research, the nature of the hypothesis and the variables involved in the research (Sarantakos, 2005). The study used descriptive survey research design to describe the behaviours and attitudes of the THP agriculture and food security beneficiaries through observation and data collection in the natural environment (Vanderstoep & Johnson, 2009). Many beneficiaries of the agriculture and food security programme in the Mfantsiman Municipality were systematically asked the same questions on the perceived impact of the components of the programme on their livelihoods (Neuman, 2003). The survey design was adopted because it suited the collection of data on perception of a programme (Bennett, 1979). It was flexible and relatively cost effective. The researcher found it simple to collect primary data (Baker, 2001).

Study Population

The target population is the population the research seeks to study based on the research problem identified (Banerjee & Chaudhry 2010). The study population consisted of 320 beneficiaries (Table 1) of AFSP of The Hunger Project in the Mfantsiman Municipality in the Central Region of Ghana.

Community	Male	Female	Total
Brofoyedur	54	7	61
Damang	41	2	43
Mamong	42	2	44
Ndezimam	56	2	61
Oboadzi	40	5	44
Pomase	61	4	67
Total	294	26	320

Table 1: Population of Beneficiaries of THP's AFSP in the Six Study Communities in Mfantseman Municipality

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019)

Sample Size and Sampling Procedure

According to the Krejcie and Morgan (1970)'s table for determining a sample size from a given population for research (Appendix B), for a population of 320, a sample size 175 were deemed adequate to represent the population to determine the perceived impact of THP's programme. According to Stevens (1996), 15 subjects are enough for a reliable regression equation analysis in social science research.

This study adopted a multistage technique to select respondents for the collection of data. A three stage was used due to the difficulty in selecting respondents at a go (Banerjee & Chauhry, 2010). The first stage was the purposive selection of the Taido Epicentre out of the two epicentres in the Central Region. This is because the communities making up the Taido epicentre are all located within the Mfantsiman Municipality. At the second stage, a simple random sampling method was used to select six out of sixteen communities through the replacement balloting method. The names of all the communities under the epicentre were written on different pieces of papers.

The papers were well shuffled and randomly picked to constitute the study communities. At the end of the exercise, Pomase, Oboadze, Mampong, Ndazimam, Brofoyedur and Damang were sampled.

The third and final stage involved the selection of respondents for the study. A sample frame consisting of three hundred and twenty beneficiaries (consisting of 294 male and 26 females) was obtained from the agriculture TOTs in the six communities earlier selected for this study. Due the lower number of females on the sample frame, the researcher used census to ensure that all the females from the selected communities were involved in the study to ensure representativeness in the in the sampling with regards to females (Sarantakos, 2005). The male respondents were however selected through simple random sampling. The lists of males from each of the six communities, were cut into pieces, folded and placed in a bowl and well shaken. With the help of the TOTs, respondents were selected for each of the communities through the replacement balloting method. This was again done to prevent sampling error and to eliminate biases (Banerjee & Chaudhry, 2010). The number of beneficiaries selected in each of the study communities to constitute the sample is represented in Table 2 below.

Community	Male	Female	Total
Brofoyedur	30	7	27
Damang	17	2	19
Mamong	18	2	20
Ndezimam	32	2	37
Oboadzi	16	5	20
Pomase	36	4	42
Total	149	26	175

Table 2: Sample Size Selected for the Study

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019)

Instrumentation

Structured and content validated interview schedules were developed as the instrument for the study. This was a useful method because of its openness, quantitative nature and guiding mode (Sarantakos, 2005). The interview schedule consisted of three main parts (A, B and C). Part A sought information on the perceived effectiveness of the components of the agriculture and food security programme of the THP. The perceived effectiveness was measured on Likert–type scale 1 to 5. The scale was interpreted to respondents as follows: 0 = cannot tell, 1 = Very Lowly Effective, 2 = Lowly Effective, 3 = Moderately Effective, 4 = Effective, 5 =Very Effective. The components measured in part A include input supply, extension and training and market links and networks see (Appendix A).

Part B sought information on the level of the perceived impact of the agriculture and food security programme on the livelihood of beneficiaries. The perceived impact of the programme was measured using five-point Likert - type Scale. Respondents were asked to indicate 0 = 'cannot tell', 1 = 'Very Low Impact', 2 = 'Low Impact', 3 = 'Moderate Impact', 4 = 'High Impact' and 5 = 'Very High Impact'. In addition, they were asked to give remarks for each of the choices they made for each of the scales.

Part C solicited information on the demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of beneficiaries. They were asked to provide information on; sex, age, marital status, educational qualification, number of dependents, type of crop grown, farming experience, size of farm, yield, primary occupation, source of agricultural information, source of credit, market out, source of

inputs, type of technology use and source of labour. These were measured using close and open ended questions.

Validity and Reliability

According to Patton (2004) and Wallen and Fraenkel (2001), a valid instrument is one which is able to measure what it is intended to measure accurately and achieves the purpose for which it is designed. The face validity was checked by the researcher through assembling the relevant literature base on variables and objectives. The content validity was checked by Mr David McMensah the officer of THP who was in charge of the programme. The supervisor scrutinized the instrument to ensure construct validity. An expert judgment (Tannor, 2014) was therefore used to ensure validity of the instrument.

Pre-Testing

The instrument was pretested on 20 beneficiaries of the programme in Anomansa one of the beneficiary communities under the Taido "Epicenter" in May, 2019 with the help of three enumerators. The data collected were entered into the SPSS version 25 to generate the Cronbach Alpha. This was used to determine the internal consistency of the Likert type scales. An instrument is said to be reliable when its Cronbach alpha value is 0.7 or more (Pallant, 2005). Since the Cronbach alpha values were lower than 0.7, the instrument was reviewed in order to strengthen it. Following the review of the research instrument, it was administered to a different set of 20 beneficiaries in the Anomansa community which was not part of the survey. The Cronbach's Alpha coefficient for the three sections improved; 0.724 for input supplied, 0.710 for extension service and training and 0.868 for market links and

networks, indicative of the fact that the instrument was reliable (Pallant, 2005). On the livelihood subscale, financial capital, physical capital, human capital, social capital and natural capitals scored 0.85, 0.84, 0.89, 0.85 and 0.88 respectively as shown in Table 3.

Subscale	Number of items	Cronbach's	alpha
Components of the Programme		1 st Pretest	2 nd Pretest
Input supply	6	0.45	0.72
Extension and training	3	0.51	0.71
Market links and networks	5	0.59	0.87
Livelihood Capitals			
Financial capital	8	0.45	0.85
Physical capital	4	0.44	0.84
Human capital	5	0.39	0.89
Social capital	3	0.45	0.85
Natural capital	4	0.46	0.86
Source: Field survey, Omari (2019)		9	n: 20

Table 3: Reliability Co-efficient of the Instrument

Data Collection

Three enumerators were trained to help the researcher administer the instrument. The training involved explaining the meaning and interpretation of each of the items on the interview schedule. This was to equip them with the requisite skills needed to solicit information from the beneficiaries. The training was also meant to help the enumerators acquaint themselves with objectives of the study and the content of the interview schedule. After the training, the researcher went to the field with the enumerators for data collection. Before the instrument was administered the purpose of the study was explained to respondents and respondents were assured of confidentiality.

The validated and pretested instrument was administered in the local dialect of randomly selected respondents and their responses were recorded on the interview schedule. The data collection lasted for four weeks, between 15th May and 12th June, 2019. The long period resulted from the unavailability of respondents in the study communities. The period was a farming period and the respondents were always on their farms. With the help of the ToTs, the researcher was able to schedule convenient time with respondents. Specifically, late evenings on week days and Sundays after church service were scheduled with the respondents.

Data Analysis

The field data was ordered and cleaned by removing responses to open-ended questions especially those that were modified to mean what it was meant. It was then coded and entered. Frequencies, means, standard deviation, correlation and regression from the Statistical Product and Service Solutions (SPSS v.25) were generated to analyse the appropriate data. Each specific objective was analysed as follows:

The objective one, sought to describe the socio-economic and demographic characteristics of beneficiaries. Frequencies, percentages, mean **NOBIS** and standard deviation were computed to describe the data. The objective two, determined the perceived of effectiveness of the components of the agriculture and food security programme. Means and standard deviation were used to describe the perception of respondents.

The objective three examined the perceived impact of the agriculture and food security programme on the livelihood of beneficiaries. Means and standard deviation were used to examine the level of impact of the agriculture

and food security programme on the livelihoods of beneficiaries. The objective four was to determine the extent to which socio-economic and demographic characteristics of beneficiaries influence the perceived effectiveness of the AFSP on their livelihood. The Pearson's Product Moment Correlation Co-efficient and multiple stepwise regression were used.

Pearson's Product Moment Correlation Co-efficient was used because, variables were observed naturally in their environment without any attempt to manipulate the relationships that were observed. Moreover, no causality was anticipated at this stage. The basis was to determine the magnitude and direction of the relationships (Vanderstoep & Johnson, 2009). The Davis (1971), correlation coefficient convention (Appendix C) was used to describe the magnitude and direction of the correlation coefficient because of its detailed nature and efficiency (Miller, 2005). Linear stepwise regression was used since the study sought to determine the specific line that provides the best fit line that explain the variations in the attributes of perceived effectiveness of the programme (Huberty, 1989). According to Gravetter and Wallnau (2005), regression is used for finding the best- fitting straight line for various attributes of perceived effectiveness of the components of the programme. The regression line results from a linear can be seen as follows: $Y = a + \beta_1 X_1 + \varepsilon$ where; Y= perceived effectiveness of the programme, a= constant which describes the mean response value when all variables are set to zero. β_{1} = parameter of the independent variable X_1 and $\varepsilon =$ error term

Finally, objective five sought to examine the extent to which socioeconomic and demographic characteristics of beneficiaries influence the perceived impact of the AFSP on their livelihood. The Pearson's Product Moment Correlation Co-efficient and multiple stepwise regression model of $Y=a+\beta_1X_1+\epsilon$ where; Y= perceived effectiveness of the programme, a= constant which describes the mean response value when all variables are set to zero, β_1 = parameter of the independent variable X_1 and ε = error term.

Collinearity Diagnostic Test

Collinearity test was conducted to analyse the variance of inflation factors (VIFs) and tolerance of independent variables of the study. Collinearity occurs when independent variables are strongly correlated (r = 0.9 and above) in a regression analysis (Pallant, 2005). VIF shows how much variance of the coefficient estimates multicollinearity. Bosompem, Annor- Frempong and Achiaa (2013), suggested that VIF more than 10 is a cause for worry. Pallent (2005) also suggested that very low (less than 1) Tolerance Value implies that the independent variable in the model have strong correlation with each other, indicating the existence of multicollinearity and hence the need to eliminate one of the strongly inter-correlated variables. The VIF and Tolerance values in Table 4 indicate that the study was not affected by multicollinearity.

Dependent	Independent				
Variable	Variables NOB	R-Square	VIF	Tolerance	P-value
Perceived	Level of education	0.08	1.05	1.00	0.00
effectiveness	Sex (dummy)	0.03	1.05	1.00	0.01
Perceived	Sex (dummy)	0.07	1.05	1.00	0.00
impact	Level of education	0.04	1.05	1.00	0.00
Source: Field survey Omari (2019) $n = 175$					

 Table 4: Collinearity Diagnostic Test

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019)

n = 1/5

Dependent and Independent Research Variables

The independent variables in the study were the demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of the beneficiaries such as sex, age, educational level, household size, yield, and years of farming as well as sources of agricultural input. Other independent variable the study considered were sources of agricultural credit, labour and agricultural information.

The dependent variables in the study are the perceived impact of the food security programme on livelihoods assets:

- i. Natural capital
- ii. Physical capital
- iii. Financial capital
- iv. Human capital
- v. Social capital

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Introduction

This chapter discusses the results based on the objectives of the study. The chapter has been segmented into five sections. The first section discusses the socio-economic and demographic characteristics of the beneficiaries of the programme. The second section also presents the perceived effectiveness of the various components of the programme which includes; input supplied, extension service and training as well as market links and networks. The third section discusses the perceived impact of the programme on the various livelihood capitals of beneficiaries. Section four deals with the extent to which socio-economic and demographic characteristics influence the perceived effectiveness of the AFSP on the livelihood of beneficiaries. The fifth and final section of this chapter discusses the extent to which socio-economic and demographic characteristics influence the perceived impact of the agriculture and food security programme.

Socioeconomic and Demographic Characteristics of Beneficiaries

This section of the study discusses the results from the analysis of data on the socio-economic and demographic characteristics of the respondents. The variables discussed are sex, age, educational level, marital status, household size, farm size cultivated and primary occupation. The farming experience, years of working with THP, yield in maize before and after joining THP as well as source of agricultural information of beneficiaries were also included. Furthermore, market outlets for selling produce, source of input and source of agricultural labour were also considered in this section.

Sex of beneficiaries

The results in Table 5 revealed that majority (85.14%) of the respondents were males while the female beneficiaries accounted for 14.86 percent. This figure confirms the widely held notion that agricultural production is dominated by male household heads as compared to females. This result agrees with the findings of Garba et al. (2011) which concluded that majority of the beneficiaries of the "Sawah" rice project were males. MoFA (2011), ISSER (2012) and Ephraim and Arene (2015) in separate studies concluded on similar finding. Lower number of female beneficiaries compared to males. Bampoe (2015) found, contradicts the findings of this study. The reported higher number of females than males was in a study that determined the perceived effectiveness of the WAAP project in the Brong Ahafo region of Ghana. The author attributed his findings to the fact that participants were into harvesting and processing than production of other food crops.

Sex	Frequency	Percentage
Male	149	85.14
Female	NOBIS ²⁶	14.86
Total	175	100.00

 Table 5: Sex of Beneficiaries

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019)

Age distribution of beneficiaries

Age is considered as a very important demographic characteristic in agricultural production and food security as it defines the level of productivity of farmers. The system of farming in the study is mainly traditional and demands exertion of energy. Sumo (2015) contends that older farmers are less

productive as they are unable to perform farming operations such as land clearing and felling of trees which are considered physically demanding. However, older farmers are more likely to be experienced, food secure and hence avert risks (Arene and Anyaeje, 2010). The authors conclude that older farmers make good decisions and are likely to adopt innovative methods of farming.

It can be observed from Table 6 that the age of beneficiaries ranged from 29 to 71years. The mean age was 46years with a standard deviation of 4.9years. More than 70% (70.4%) are 50years or below. This agrees with (MoFA, 2011; Asante, 2015 & Nyaaba 2016) which revealed that the average age of farmers in most farming communities was 50years or below.

Table 6: Age of Beneficiaries

Age (years)	Frequency	Percentage
Below	70	34.40
40-50	63	36.00
51-60	36	20.60
Above 60	16	9.10
Total	175	100.00

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019) n =175, mean = 46, Min = 29, Max = 71, SD=9.46

These findings are more positive for agricultural development and food security since most of the farmers are within their productive age of 50 years or below and are likely to have the energy required for the rigours of farming operations. The mean age of 46 implies that most respondents were within the productive age and would be able to cope with the drudgery associated with agricultural production in the rural communities (Oluyole, Ogundale & Abyaniyi, 20011).

Educational level of respondents

The study revealed that most (92.6%) of the beneficiaries had some level of formal education ranging from primary, Middle school and Junior High School (Table 7). Majority (81.20%) of the respondents had either JHS or MLSC while a little over one tenth have had primary education. The remaining 7.4% however had no formal education.

Educational level	Frequency	Percentage		
No formal education	13	7.40		
Primary	20	11.40		
JHS/MSLC	142	81.20		
Total	175	100.00		
Source: Field survey, Omari (2019)				

Table 7: Educational Level of Beneficiaries

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019)

The higher number of farmers with some level of formal education agrees with a study by MoFA (2011) and conforms to general notion that majority of farmers in farming communities in Ghana have some level of formal education. The acquisition of some level of education by beneficiaries is expected to give them level of confidence needed to work with development agents and adopt innovations (Roger, 2003). This finding is also good for agricultural development and food security project of THP because farmers in the study area are likely to be less conservative and would be willing to adopt improved farming practices.

According to Anyanwu et al. (2012), farmers who have some degree of education express willingness of adopting technology and improved farming practices. Sumo (2015) submitted that formal education improves farmers' managerial skills and human capital in general. In terms of food security,

farming families in the study's target population are likely to be more stable as a result of the level of formal education among beneficiaries as suggested by Nasengani and Netshandama (2016).

Marital status of beneficiaries

Table 8 presents the marital status of respondents. It can be observed that the majority (76.6%) of the respondents were married, the rest (33.4%) of the beneficiaries were either divorced or separated.

Table 8	: Marital Status of Beneficiaries
3.6 1	

Marital status	Frequency	Percentage
Married	134	76.60
Divorced	21	12.00
Widowed	20	11.40
Total	175	100.00

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019)

This finding is in agreement with Kuwornu et al. (2013) who reported that 76.6 percent of respondents in a study on food security in the coastal and forest belt of the Central Region of Ghana were married. The high number of married household heads may be advantageous in a labour intensive venture like farming. On the other hand, it could also mean farmers or beneficiaries who are single will have to depend on hired labour. It is expected that family labour in addition to hired labour would be available to household heads that are married (Amaza et al., 2009).

Number of dependants in beneficiaries' household

On the average, there were five dependants per family in the study area. The minimum number of dependant was two while the maximum was 10 as presented in Table 9. More than two thirds (70.9 %) of the respondents had

household sizes between one and five. The rest of the beneficiaries (29.1%) had household sizes between six and ten.

Dependents	Frequency	Percentage
1-5	124	70.90
6-10	51	29.10
Total	175	100.00

Table 9: Number of Dependants in Beneficiaries' Household

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019) Mean=5, SD= 2, Min= 2, Max=10

Dependants in the household are regarded as human capital and a source of labour for agricultural production (Nandi, Gunn & Yukushi, 2011). Sumo (2015) observed that the number of dependants in the household influences the size of farm cultivated by the family, quantity of farm produce consumed in the house, as well as the market surplus sold in the market. The results presented in Table 9 are expected to have positive impact on agricultural production since the households with large number of dependents are likely to have access to available labour to perform agricultural activities. This would reduce the cost of hiring labour to perform agricultural activities. Ani (2004) and Nani (2005) confirmed that most of the agricultural operations are labour intensive and having a bigger household size tend to increase the available labour to perform agricultural activities.

Farm size cultivated by beneficiaries in acres

The farm sizes cultivated by beneficiaries in the study ranged from one to five acres (0.41ha-2.00ha). The standard deviation of 0.84 acres indicates that there was not much variation in land size cultivated by farmers in the study area (Table 10). The results showed that 48.57% of the respondents cultivated between 1 and 2 acres while far less than one-fifth 83 (14.85%) of the beneficiaries cultivated less than one acre. The finding contradicts Nwanze (2011); Asante (2015) and Bampoe (2015) who found the majority of farmers cultivating land sizes of less than an acre in separate studies.

Farm siz	ze (acres)	Frequency	Percentage
Less that	in 1.0	26	14.85
1.1-2.0		85	48.57
2.1-3.0		30	17.14
3.1-4.0		24	13.71
4.1-5.0	-	10	5.71
Total		a 175	100.00

Table 10: Farm Size in Acres

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019) n = 175, SD=0.84, Min= 0.6 acres, Max = 5acres

The finding in Table 10, also implies that farmers who participated in the study are small scale farmers. According to Ojuekaiye (2001) and Bampoe (2015), farmers who cultivate land sizes between a quarter of an acre up to fourteen acres (0.25-14) are classified as small scale farmers. Notwithstanding the size of land cultivated by the farmers in the study area, they are expected to have higher returns from the farming activities due to the input supply and extension service provided by THP.

Primary occupation of beneficiaries

Results presented in Table 11 show the primary occupation of the respondents in the study. It was observed that the majority (68%) were farmers, while the remaining 32% were artisans comprising; masons (26.30%), electricians (4.0%) and carpenters (1.70%). This implies that the

majority of the respondents are full-time farmers. The one-third of the respondents however, take to farming as a secondary occupation.

Occupat	tion	Frequency	Percentage
Farming	5	119	68.00
Mason		46	26.30
Electric	ian	7	4.00
Carpent	er	3	1.70
Total		175	100.00
Courses	Field autory Om	$\frac{1}{2010}$	

Table 11:	Primary	Occupation	of Ben	eficiaries
	/			

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019)

Farming experience of beneficiaries (years)

The results from Table 12 indicate that the minimum and maximum number of year were 1 and 40 respectively. The majority (93.7%) of the farmers in the study area have had 11 to 40 years of farming experience. This long period of farming experience is expected to increase productivity. According to Amaza et al. (2009) farming experience is a very important variable in food production because it influences productivity, adoption of technology and scale of cultivation. The long years of farming with its associated trial and error have been found to offer farmers a wealth of knowledge and experience (Gbigbi, Bassey & Okon, 2010).

Table 12: Farming	Experience	Beneficiaries	(years)
-------------------	------------	---------------	---------

Years	Frequency	Percentage
1-10	11	6.30
11-20	100	57.10
21-30	59	33.70
31-40	5	2.90
Total	175	100.00

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019) Mean = 20.59, SD = 6.18, Min = 1, Max = 40

The higher number of respondents with long years of experience could be attributed to the fact that the project communities are predominantly farming communities. Therefore, there can be the likelihood of one, taking up farming as a profession early in life. The mean number of years, 20.59 years of farming experience contradicts what was reported in MoFA (2011) which stood at 11years. In addition, while the minimum years of farming experience (3.0 years) is lower than Asante (2015) and MoFA (2011), the maximum (40) years is similar to the findings of MoFA (2011).

Years of working with THP

It can be revealed from Table 13 that more than two out of every three (61.7%) of the beneficiaries had been on the agriculture and food security programme for more than ten years. This implies the beneficiaries should have gained enough experience to be able to improve on livelihoods. Takyiwaa (2012) indicated that "Epicentre" communities must be self-reliant after 8 years.

Years	Frequency	Percentage
1-10	67	38.30
11-20	NOBI ₁₀₈	61.70
Total	175	100.00

 Table 13: Years of Working with THP

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019) Mean = 12.38, SD = 3.04, Min = 8,

Max = 20

Maize Yield in Kilograms per acre of farmers before joining THP

Table 14 shows the quantity of maize in bags produced by the respondents before joining the THP. It is observed that close to sixty percent

(59.40%) of the respondents had between one to five bags, the remaining beneficiaries had between six to ten bags before joining THP's agriculture and food security programme. The minimum (3bags/acre) and maximum (10 bags/acre) yields of maize was very low compared to the national average yield estimated by MoFA (2015). This therefore implies that beneficiaries could be prone to food insecurity and the THP's decision to select the community for the intervention was a good one.

Table 14: Maize yield (Kg/acre) of farmers before joining THP

Yield (S	50kg bag/acre) Frequency	Percentage
1-5	104	59.40
6-10	71	40.60
Total	175	100.00

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019). Mean = 5.39, SD = 1.29, Min = 3, Max

=10 bags/acre

Maize Yield in Kilograms per acre of farmers after joining THP during the 2018 season

It can be noted from the Table 15 that 96% of all the beneficiaries have yields between 6 to15 bags of maize after joining THP. This shows an increase in productivity. This result conforms to the Theory of Change which holds that a change in knowledge, attitudes, skills, aspirations and opportunities will result in behavioural changes among the target group which in actual practice enable them to do things differently resulting in direct benefits. These direct benefits include increased income levels, improved health, more productive farming and more empowerment. Also, similar result was reported by Sumo (2015) in a study on beneficiaries who benefited from the agricultural sector rehabilitation project in Carysburg and Todee district of Liberia. Though there

had been yield increase comparing the yields before and after joining THP, the minimum (1 bag) and Maximum (20 bag) yield per acre is still low compared to the national average estimated by MoFA (2015).

 Table 15: Maize Yield (kg/acre) after joining THP during the 2018
 Season

Yield (5	50kg bags)	Frequency	Percentage
1-5		5	2.90
6-10		84	48.00
11-15		84	48.00
16-20		2	1.10
Total		175	100.00
Source:	Field survey,	Omari (2019). Mean = 10.50), SD =2.46, Min = 1,
Max = 2	20		

Source of agricultural information

Agricultural information by farmers is considered very critical to agricultural development since it is used to make cost-effective and efficient agricultural production decisions (Iwuchuku et al., 2013). The source of agricultural information for beneficiaries involved in the study is shown in Table 16. It can be observed from the table that close to sixty percent (57.14%) of the beneficiaries derived their agricultural information from MoFA Agricultural Extension Agents. The finding contradicts Asante (2015) which reported 95.9% of MiDA beneficiaries in the Effutu Municipality used the same source for their agricultural information. It is also lower than the number of farmers found in the study by Nakano et al. (2018) to assess the impact of training on technology in Tanzania.

Sources	Frequency	Percentages
MoFA	100	57.14
Trainer of Trainers (THP)	65	37.14
Radio	10	5.70
Total	175	100.00

Table 16: Source of Agricultural Information

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019)

Sources of funds for agricultural production

Results presented Table 17 depicts the sources of credit for agriculture by the beneficiaries. It is revealed that two out of every three of the respondents (61.7%) rely on personal savings while the rest depend on proceeds from the sale of produce to fund farming activities. This finding mirrors studies by Asante (2015), Musiime and Attuha (2011).

Table 17: Sources of funds for Agricultural Production

Sources	Frequency	Percentages
Personal savings	108	61.70
Sale of produce	67	38.30
Total	175	100.00
C T'11 O	: (2010)	

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019)

The beneficiaries indicated during the data collection that, they depend on their own financial resources because they could not afford to provide collateral demanded by the financial institutions. They further revealed that the stringent conditions attached to credit from financial institutions often deter them from sourcing funding from them.

Market outlet for farm produce

All farmers involved in the study rely on the open market either at Anomabo or Mankessim to sell produce. Selling at the local market is the main marketing outlet for people along the coast. Asante (2015) discovered that participants in his study which investigated the effectiveness of the MiDA commercial agricultural project, traded their farm produce in the open market. The findings of this study on market outlet for farm produce, contradicts the findings of Mutero et al. (2016) which studied the operational challenges faced by smallholder farmers in Ethewini Metropolitan South Africa. The study reported that 79% of the respondents sold their produce at the farm gate.

Source of agricultural inputs

Table 18 represents the source of input for respondents which are vital in promoting agricultural development and reducing rural poverty. More than half of the respondents (51.40%) depended on MoFA or THP for inputs to produce.

Sources	Frequency	Percentage
MoFA/THP	90	51.40
Retail Shop	85	48.60
Total	175	100.00

Table 18: Source of Inputs

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019)

The rest 48.60 percent relied on retail shops for inputs for farming. In the case of Asante (2015), the farmers involved in the MiDA project, few beneficiaries (17%) relied on MoFA for inputs. Notwithstanding the different sources of inputs, all the respondents in the study area have access to agricultural inputs which are sometimes subsidized by THP. This was expected to improve agricultural productivity, increase profits and overall investment in agriculture.

Source of agricultural labour

The source of labour for agricultural production is presented in Table 19. The majority (80.6%) of the beneficiaries used family and hired labour. Very few used either hired labour only (12.0%) or family labour (7.4%). This finding agrees with the FAO's (2015) suggestion that the majority of smallholder farmers rely on both family and hired labour for agricultural production.

Table 19: Source of	Agricultural Labour	
Sources	Frequency	Percentages
Family labour	13	7.40
Hired labour	a 21	12.00
Family and hired labo	our 141	80.60
Total	175	100.00

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019)

Perceived Effectiveness of Agriculture and Food Security Programme

The components of the AFSP extended to beneficiaries include input supply, extension service and training and provision of market links and networks. The results are therefore presented and discussed according to the components of the programme.

NOBIS

Perceived Effectiveness of Agricultural Input Supply

Table 20 presents the mean analysis of the various sub-components under input supply. The composite mean was 3.25 with a standard deviation of 0.48 implying that the beneficiaries were close in their opinions and perceived the supply of inputs to be moderately effective. This result contrasts with the findings of Rusike et al. (2014) and Bampoe (2015) that farmers involved in
respective studies perceived input supply as effective. It can be observed from Table 20 that apart from credit that respondents unanimously perceived to be effective (mean =3.57; SD = 0.64), fertilizer (mean = 3.44; SD = 0.76), cutlasses (mean = 3.39; SD =0.61), seeds (mean =3.17; SD =0.80) and wellington boots (mean =3.03; SD =0.39) were perceived to be moderately effective.

Input	Mean	SD
Farm credit (THP)	3.57	0.64
Fertilizer	3.44	0.76
Cutlasses	3.39	0.61
Seeds	3.17	0.80
Wellington boots	3.02	0.39
Agrochemicals	2.93	1.10
Composite	3.25	0.48

Table 20: Perceived Effectiveness of Input Supply

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019), Scale: 5=Very effective, 4=Effective, 3= Moderately Effective, 2= Lowly Effective, 1=Very Low Effective

Perceived Effectiveness of Extension Services and Training

Beneficiaries' perception of the effectiveness of the extension and training components of the agriculture and food security programme is shown in Table 21. The analysis of the means of the components shows that beneficiaries generally perceived extension and training as "moderately effective" (mean = 3.06, SD = 0.06). This finding mirrors Bampoe (2015) which revealed that beneficiaries of the WAAPP in the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana perceived the extension and training components as moderately effective. It can also be observed from Table 21 that though all the components under extension and training were perceived as moderately

effective, training on fertilizer application was higher than the rest (mean = 3.21; SD = 0.81). The most probable implication was that farmers realised the impact of the training in terms of yield increase.

 Table 21: Perceived Effectiveness of Extension and Training Service

Item	Mean	SD
Training fertilizer application	3.21	0.81
Training on row planting	3.09	0.83
Training on agrochemical application	2.87	1.59
Total	3.06	0.06

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019), n = 175, Scale: Scale: 5=Very effective, 4=Effective, 3= Moderately Effective, 2= Lowly Effective, 1=Very Low Effective

Perceived Effectiveness of Market Links and Networks

Results on market links and networks component of the AFSP of THP is presented in Table 22. The areas the study considered under this component were, Linking beneficiaries to; processors, exporters, schools, restaurants and hotels. The composite mean (2.83) with standard deviation (0.42), show that beneficiaries were close in their opinion and perceived this component as "moderately effective" in improving their livelihoods. Specifically, apart from links to exporters that beneficiaries perceived to be "moderately effective" (mean = 2.49, SD = 0.95), links to schools (mean = 2.22; SD= 1.17), links to hotels (mean = 2.22; SD= 1.15), links to restaurants (mean = 2.11; SD = 1.23) and links to processors (mean = 1.93, SD=1.22) were perceived as lowly effective by beneficiaries.

Item	Mean	SD
Item	Ivicali	30
Links to exporters	2.49	0.95
Links to schools	2.22	1.17
Links to hotels	2.22	1.15
Links to restaurants	2.11	1.23
Links to processors	1.93	1.22
Total	2.83	0.42

Table 22: Perceived Effectiveness of Market Links and Networks

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019), Scale: 5= Very Effective, 4= Effective,

3= Moderately Effective, 2= Lowly Effective, 1=Very Lowly Effective.

Means of Perceived Effectiveness of the Components of the Programme

Table 23 shows the means of perceived effectiveness of the components of THP's agriculture and food security programme. From the table, the composite mean and standard deviation was (mean =3.04; SD =0.59). This implies that beneficiaries were close in their opinions and perceived the effectiveness of the components as moderate.

 Table 23: Means of Perceived Effectiveness of the Programme Components

Component	Mean	SD
Input supplied	3.25	0.48
Extension	3.06	0.60
Market links and network NOBIS	2.83	0.70
Composite mean	3.04	0.59

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019). Scale: 5=Very Effective, 4= Effective,

3= Moderately Effective, 2=Lowly Effective, 1= Very Low Effective.

The Impact of the Agriculture and Food Security Programme on the Livelihood Assets of Beneficiaries

The presentation and discussion of results on the impact of the AFSP on livelihood of the beneficiaries focused on financial, physical, human and natural capital.

Financial Capital

Table 24 presents the results on perception of beneficiaries on the impact of the agriculture and food security programme on financial capital. Beneficiaries perceived the programme to have had a 'moderate impact' on their financial capital (composite mean =2.47) and they did not vary in their opinion SD<1 (0.69).

 Table 24: Perceived Impact of Agriculture and Food Security Programme on Financial Capital of Beneficiaries

Financial Capitals	Mean	SD
Increased income level	3.46	0.82
Payment of children's fees	2.88	0.64
Reducing debt	2.71	1.20
Saving proceeds from sale of farm produce	2.20	0.66
Acquisition of money for farming	2.20	0.63
Receive money from other institutions	2.15	0.50
Receive credit from other people	2.08	0.45
Secure insurance for produce	2.07	0.58
Composite mean	2.47	0.69

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019). Means were calculated on scale of: 5=Very Effective, 4= Effective, 3= Moderately Effective, 2=Lowly Effective, 1= Very Lowly Effective.

Beneficiaries specifically perceived an increase in income level (Mean = 3.46, SD = 0.82), ability to pay children's school fees (Mean = 2.88, SD = 0.64) and

reduction in debt levels (Mean = 2.71, SD = 1.20) as the livelihood areas the THP has moderately impacted.

Physical capital

The study considered physical capital in terms of ability of beneficiaries to buy a knapsack sprayer, electronic gadgets (cell phone, radio set, and laptops) and having access to vehicles to transport produce to the market for sale. Results presented in Table 25 show that beneficiaries generally perceived the programme to have moderately impacted on their physical capital (Composite mean = 2.64, SD = 1.10). This is similar to the findings of Sumo (2015) in a study on farmer's perceived impact of the agricultural rehabilitation project on their livelihood in Liberia. The standard deviation of 1.10 implied that respondents were varied in their opinions. Beneficiaries perceived the agriculture and food security programme to have had 'high impact' (mean = 3.52, SD = 0.50) on ability to buy electronic gadgets such as mobile phone is very important to agricultural production.

According Nakano et al. (2018), electronic gadgets such as mobile phones are very vital to agricultural communication as it is used by farmers to communicate with colleagues, contact extension agents and buyers of farm produce. The beneficiaries perceived the impact of the programme on ability to purchase knapsack sprayer as 'low' (Mean=2.34, SD = 1.26). Similarly, beneficiaries access to physical market around for the sale of produce was also found by the study to be 'low' (Mean=2.49, SD = 1.13).

Table 25: Perce	eived Impact of A	griculture and	Food Security	Programme
on P	hysical Capital of	f Beneficiaries		

Physical capital	Mean	SD
Purchased electronic gadgets	3.52	0.50
Access to physical market around for the sale of my produce	2.49	1.13
Purchased a knapsack sprayer	2.34	1.26
Access to vehicles to transport produce to the market for		
sale	2.22	1.10
Composite mean	2.64	1.10
Source: Field survey Omeri (2010) Scale: 5- Very High	Impact	1 - Hight

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019), Scale: 5= Very High Impact, 4= High Impact, 3= Moderate Impact, 2= Low Impact, 1=Very Low Impact

Human capital

The human capital livelihood support in the study includes; access to skilled and unskilled labour, ability to pay for labour, having access to extension service as well as being in good health. Results in Table 26 show the perceived impact of the agriculture and food security programme on the human capital of beneficiaries. The results show that beneficiaries generally perceived the impact of the agriculture and food security programme on human capital as moderate (Composite mean = 3.41, SD = 0.79) and were consistent in their opinion. Specifically, beneficiaries perceived the programme's impact on the ability to pay for labour (mean = 3.58, SD = 0.81), access to skilled labour (mean = 3.57, SD = 0.82) and access to unskilled labour (mean = 3.51, SD = 0.50) as 'high'. This may affect agricultural productivity positively because agricultural labour is very important at all levels of production. Therefore, having the ability to access and pay for labour, may enable farmers to carry out farm management activities on schedule. This may enhance productivity and improve yields of farmers.

Respondents also perceived the programme to have had a 'high' impact (mean = 3.35, SD = 0.81) on their physical fitness. This finding is also important for the programme objective since farmers need to be physically fit before they can make the most out of the various training on good agricultural practices offered by THP.

 Table 26: Perceived Impact of Agriculture and Food Security Programme

 on Human Capital of Beneficiaries

Human capital	Mean	SD
Helped me pay for labour	3.58	0.81
It has given me access to unskilled labour	3.57	0.82
It has helped me to be physically fit for my farming activities	3.51	0.50
It has given me access to skilled labour	3.35	0.81
It has helped me have access to extension services	3.03	1.00
Composite mean	3.41	0.79

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019), Scale: 5= Very High Impact, 4= High Impact, 3= Moderate Impact, 2= Low Impact, 1 = Very Low Impact

Social capital

The social capital considered in the study are the ability of beneficiaries to support other family members, ability to pay school fees and being able to support friends. Results presented in Table 27 show the perception of beneficiaries of the impact of agriculture and food security programme on social capital.

Beneficiaries perceived the impact of the programme on social capitals to be 'high' (Composite mean =3.69, SD =0.44). Specifically, beneficiaries perceived the ability of programme to have helped them to pay school fees as high (Mean = 3.79, SD = 0.41) and were not too varied in their opinions. The ability of beneficiaries to pay the school fees of their wards is

positive and laudable as it shows the consciousness of beneficiaries towards the need to invest in the education of their wards.

Table 27:	Perceived Impact of the Agriculture and Food Security
	Programme on Social Capitals of Beneficiaries

Human capital	Mean	SD
Ability to pay school fees	3.79	0.41
Support to other family members	3.49	0.41
Support to friends	3.49	0.50
Composite mean	3.67	0.44

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019), Scale: 5= Very High Impact, 4 = High Impact, 3= Moderate Impact, 2= Low Impact, 1= Very Low Impact

Equally, they perceived the impact of the programme on the ability to support other family members (Mean = 3.49, SD = 0.41) and friends (mean = 3.49, SD = 0.50) as high. This implies that beneficiaries can fulfil some of their social obligations.

Natural Capital

Table 28 shows the perception of beneficiaries on the impact of the agriculture and food security programme on their natural capitals. Beneficiaries generally, perceived the impact of the programme on their natural capitals as 'moderate' (Composite Mean = 3.11, SD = 0.67) and were quite consistent in their opinion. Similarly, beneficiaries perceived the impact of the programme on productivity (yield per area) as moderate. They also perceived the impact of the programme in helping them own farmland land as moderate (Mean =3.27, SD = 0.80). Equally, beneficiaries perceived the impact of the programme on access to land for agricultural production as well as better farm input as moderate.

Items	Mean	SD	
Increase in productivity (yield per acre)	3.35	0.81	
Own a farmland	3.27	0.80	
Access to land	3.02	0.67	
Access to better farm inputs	2.79	0.41	
Composite mean	3.11	0.67	

 Table 28: Perceived Impact of the Agriculture and Food Security

 Programme on the Natural capital of Beneficiaries

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019), Scale: 5=Very High Impact, 4=High Impact, 3=Moderate Impact, 2= Low Impact, 1= Very Low Impact

Perceived Impact of the Programme on Various Livelihood Capitals

The means of the various livelihood capitals of beneficiaries are represented in Table 29. The general perception of beneficiaries on the impact of the agriculture and food security programme on their livelihood was 'moderate' (Composite Mean =2.9, SD=0.47). Bampoe (2015), made similar findings in a study on cassava farmers who benefited from the West Africa Agricultural Productivity Programme in the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana. It however, contradicts the findings of Abikoye et al., (2015) which revealed that beneficiary farmers of the Fadama III project in Kwara State, Nigeria, perceived the impact on their livelihood as 'high'.

Livelihood capital	Mean	SD
Social	3.69	0.39
Human	3.41	0.67
Natural	3.11	0.59
Physical	2.64	0.85
Financial	2.47	0.50
Composite	2.95	0.47

Table 29: Means and Standard Deviation of Perceived Impact of theProgramme on various Livelihood Capitals

Source: Field survey, Omari (2019), Scale: 5=Very High Impact, 4= High Impact, 3=Moderate Impact, 2= Low Impact, 1= Very Low Impact

Relationship between Socio-Economic and Demographic Characteristics on Perceived Effectiveness of the Agriculture and Food Security Programme

The relationship between socio-economic and demographic characteristics and perceived effectiveness of the programme on the livelihoods of beneficiaries was analysed using Pearson's Moment Correlation Co-efficient. The results presented in Table 30 indicate that, there was low, negative and significant relationship between farm size (r = -0.17, $p = 0.02^*$), yield before joining THP (r= - 0.24^{**} , p = 0.00), sex of beneficiaries (r = -0.09, p = 0.02), farming experience (r = -0.08, p = 0.031) and perceived effectiveness at alpha level of 0.05. The results imply that perceived effectiveness of the programme increases with decreasing farm size, decreasing yield before joining THP, decreasing farming experience and decreasing number of female beneficiaries. In other words, male beneficiaries with less farming experience, low yields before joining THP and small farm sizes, perceived the programme to be more effective compared to their female counterparts.

Table 30: I	Relationship between Socio-economic and Demographic
(Characteristics and Perceived Effectiveness of the AFSP on
Ι	Livelihoods

- -

Y= Perceived effectiveness					
Independent variables	r	p-value			
X ₁ Age	-0.10	0.182			
X ₂ Farming experience	-0.08	0.031			
X ₃ Dependants	0.11	0.145			
X ₄ Farm size	-0.17	0.002			
X ₅ Years with THP	-0.04	0.057			
X ₆ Yield before joining THP	-0.09	0.002*			
X 7 Yield after joining THP	-0.02	0.075			
X ₈ Educational level	0.37**	0.00			
X ₉ Sex (dummy)	-0.24**	0.00*			
Source: Field survey, Omari (2019) $*p < 0.05$ $n = 175$					

On the contrary, there was a moderate, positive and significant relationship between educational level of beneficiaries (r = 0.37**, p = 0.00) and perceived effectiveness of the AFSP on livelihoods. This means perceived effectiveness of the programme on livelihoods increased with increasing level of education. This also implies that beneficiaries with some form of education, perceived the AFSP to be effective than beneficiaries with no education.

Testing of Hypothesis 1 NOBIS

The results shown in Table 30 revealed a statistically significant (0.000) difference existed between sex of beneficiaries and perceived effectiveness of the AFSP on their livelihoods at alpha level of 0.05. Therefore, the null hypothesis of the study which stated that there was no significant relationship between sex of beneficiaries and perceived effectiveness of the AFSP on livelihoods was rejected.

Multiple stepwise regression for selected socio- economic and demographic characteristics and perceived effectiveness of the programme components

The results in Table 31, represent the stepwise multiple regression of socio-economic and demographic characteristics and the perceived effectiveness of the programme on livelihood.

 Table 31: Multiple Stepwise Regression of Selected Socio-economic and

 Demographic Characteristics and Perceived Effectiveness of

 the Programme Components

Predictor	r S	Step	Beta	R ²	Adjusted	R ²	SEEE	F.Change	P-
		of			R ²	Change			value
	e	entry							
X ₈									
Educatio	onal	1	0.241	0.079	0.073	0.079	0.39980	14.756	0.001
level									
X ₉ Sex		2	0.189	0.113	0.102	0.034	0.39347	6.606	0.011
Source, Field survey, Omari (2019)					p - Value < 0.05, n = 175				

The results show that the two socio-economic and demographic variables of the beneficiaries contributed a total of 10.2 percent of the variance in perceived effectiveness (as indicated in the last row of the adjusted R^2 in Table 31). The educational level of beneficiaries accounted for 7.3 percent of the variance in the perceived effectiveness of the AFSP on livelihood while sex of beneficiary contributed the remaining 2.9 percent. Between the two variables, the best predictor of perceived effectiveness was educational level.

This finding is similar to Sawant et al. (2003), which found educational level as the best predictor of perceived effectiveness in a study on farmers' level of education and perceived effectiveness of extension system of the Maha region in India. Educational level being the best predictor of effectiveness in the study area can be attributed to the fact that a greater number (92%) of the beneficiaries have some level of education and are likely to implement innovative ways of farming. According to Anyanwu et al. (2012), farmers who are educated are likely to be less conservative in applying innovations which are likely to improve production and livelihood. It however contradicts More (2014), which found no relationship between perceived effectiveness and educational level.

Relationship between Socio-Economic and Demographic Characteristics and Perceived Impact AFSP on Livelihood

Table 32 presents the relationship between selected socio-economic and demographic characteristics of beneficiaries and perceived impact of the AFSP on their livelihood. The results in Table 32 showed that there was negative, negligible relationship between beneficiaries' age (r = -0.10, p =0.18), farming experience (r = -0.08, $p = 0.66^{**}$), farm size (r = -0.04, p =0.57), yield before joining THP (r = -0.02, p = 0.75) and perceived impact of the AFSP on their livelihood. This implies there was an inverse relationship between age, farming experience, farm size and yield before joining THP and perceived impact of AFSP on livelihood. In other words, young farmers with less farming experience and low yield before joining THP perceived the AFSP to have had impact on their livelihood. There was however a positive, negligible linear relationship between years of working with THP (r = 0, 09, p = 0.22), yield after joining THP (r = 0.02, p = 0.75) and perceived impact of the AFSP. This implies number years of joining THP and yield after joining THP had a direct relationship with perceived impact of the programme.

Table 32: Relationship between Socio-economic and DemographicCharacteristics and Perceived Impact of the AFSP onLivelihoods.

Y= Perceived impact						
Independent variables	R	p-value				
X ₁ Age	-0.10	0.18				
X ₂ Farming experience	-0.08	0.66**				
X ₃ Dependents	-0.17	-0.02				
X ₄ Farm size	-0.04	0.57				
X ₅ Years with THP	-0.09	0.22				
X ₆ Yield before joining THP	-0.02	0.075				
X 7 Yield after joining THP	0.02	0.075				
X ₈ Educational level	0.37**	0.00				
X ₉ Sex (dummy)	-0.24**	0.00*				
*n < 0.05 $n = 175$ Source: Field survey Omeni (2010)						

*p<0.05, n= 175, Source: Field survey, Omari, (2019)

There was however a moderate, positive and significant relationship between perceived impact and educational level of beneficiaries (r=0.37**, p = 0.00) at alpha level of 0.05. This implies that beneficiaries with some level of education perceived the programme to have had impact on their livelihoods. On the contrary, there was a low, negative and significant relationship between sex of beneficiaries and perceived impact of the programme on livelihood. This implies that perceived impact of the programme decreases as the number of females on the programme increases.

Testing of Hypothesis Two

The hypothesis two of the study which sought to test whether there was a significant difference between the yields of beneficiaries before and after joining THP was tested using Paired Sample T-Test. The results in appendix D revealed a statistically significant (0.000) difference existed between yields of beneficiaries before and after joining THP at alpha level of 0.05. Therefore, the null hypothesis of the study which stated that there was a significant difference between yields of beneficiaries before and after joining THP was accepted.

Multiple stepwise regression of selected socio-economic and demographic characteristics and perceived impact of the programme

Stepwise regression results of selected socio-economic and demographic characteristics of beneficiaries and perceived impact of the AFSP on livelihood are presented on Table 33. The results show that the composite adjusted R-squared values for sex and educational level of beneficiaries was 0.113. This implies that 11.3 percent of the variation in perceived impact of the ASFP in the Mfantsiman municipality is explained by sex (7.8 percent) and level of education (3.5 percent). Sex of beneficiaries was the best predictor of perceived impact between the two variables. The most probable explanation is that since the majority of beneficiaries have some form of formal education, they might have adopted innovative ways of farming which had helped improve their productivity thus may perceive the programme as having impact on their livelihoods (Anyanwu et al., 2012). The beta value for the educational level indicates that a 100 percent unit increase in the perceived impact of the programme will lead to 20.5 percent increase in level of education. Similarly, a 25 percent increase in the number of males will lead to 100 percent unit increase in perceived impact. This implies the male beneficiaries perceived the AFSP to have had impact on their livelihood than the female counterparts

Table 33: Multiple Stepwise Regression of Selected Socio-economic and Demographic Characteristics and Perceived Impact of the Programme

Predictor	Step of	Beta	R ²	Adjuste	\mathbb{R}^2	SEE	F.	P-
	entry			$d R^2$	Change		Change	value
Sex (X ₉)	1	0.246	0.083	0.078	0.083	1.17089	15.699	0.001
Educational level (X ₈)	2	0.205	0.123	0.113	0.040	1.14831	7.871	0.006

Source : Field survey, Omari, (2019)

p - Value < 0.05, n= 175



CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This chapter presents the summary of the key findings according to the objectives of the study. The conclusions and recommendations to improve the impact of the AFSP of THP and others based on the experience of the study in Ghana are presented in this chapter. The chapter ends with suggestions for further studies.

Summary

Food security has become a major concern globally with sub-Saharan Africa and some parts of Asia being the most affected areas. Ghana believes to have made strides in ensuring food security but this has not trickled down to most communities and households. Ghanaians are said to be either food insecure, vulnerable and or becoming food insecure. These situations have prompted state and non-state actors to implement policies and interventions to address food insecurity. The national and local level interventions have been implemented with varying degree of success. While studies reveal that some were successful, others are said to have had less significant impact in improving the livelihood of beneficiaries. The variables responsible for the success or otherwise of these policies and programmes have been documented by various authors such as (Adu et. al., 2018; Kuwornu et. al., 2013 & FAO, 2017)

The Hunger Project Ghana is one of the non-state organisations, at the forefront in the fight against food insecurity in rural communities in the Mfantsiman Municipality of the Central Region of Ghana. The Hunger Project provides farmers with inputs such as seeds, fertilizers, cutlasses, farm credit,

wellington boots as well as agrochemicals through the deployment of its agricultural and food security interventions. They also assist farmers with extension services and training on good agricultural practices. To ensure that farmers are able to sell their produce after harvesting, THP also provides market links and network farmers to potential buyers of farm produce of the beneficiaries. The programme has therefore received widespread acceptance by beneficiaries in the beneficiary communities under the Taido Epicentre.

This study sought to investigate the components of the agriculture and food security programme of THP's work at Taido Epicentre. The core objective of the study was to assess beneficiaries' perception of the impact of the project on their livelihood. The study sought to specifically, describe the socio-economic and demographic characteristics of the beneficiaries of the programme; examine the perceived impact of the programme on the livelihood of the beneficiaries and; to determine the extent to which socio-economic and demographic characteristics influence the perceived effectiveness of the programme on livelihood. The study also sought to examine the extent to which socio-economic and demographic characteristics of beneficiaries influence the programme on livelihood.

The study employed survey design and used multi-stage sampling technique to select 175 participants from a population of 320 who were beneficiaries of the THP project. Percentages, means, standard deviation, correlation, linear and multiple regressions were used in analysing the data using SPSS version 25.

109

Summary of Key Findings of the Study

Key findings of the study based on the objectives of this study are presented as follows:

The majority of the beneficiaries of the agriculture and food security programme of THP to be males whiles the rest were females. The beneficiaries in the study area have either BECE or MLSC as the highest educational qualification.

All beneficiaries were small scale farmers, cultivating between 0.25 to 14 acres and had varied (16-20) years of farming experience. They were married adults with more than half of them having household sizes of one to five. Farming was found to be the primary occupation of majority of the beneficiaries with the remaining engaged in artisanal venture such as masonry, carpentry and electrical works as their primary occupation.

Most of the beneficiaries depended on family and hired labour to perform agricultural activities. Beneficiaries recorded an increase in maize yield after joining THP's agriculture and food security programme. Majority however, recorded yield increase between 6-15 bags in maize production after joining benefiting from the intervention. Regarding the source of agricultural information, majority of the beneficiaries depended on MOFA and THP's project ToTs for agricultural information. While the rest relied on radio for agricultural information. The study also revealed that close to sixty-two percent of beneficiaries depended on personal savings for farming whiles the remaining beneficiaries funded farming with proceeds from the sale of farm produce. In terms of marketing of farm produce and source of agricultural inputs, the study revealed that beneficiaries use the open markets in either

Anomabo or Mankessim for the sale of farm produce. In the same vein, almost half of the beneficiaries relied on retail agrochemical shops in these two towns for their inputs while the rest depended on Agricultural Extension Agents of MoFA for their inputs.

Findings on the perception of beneficiaries on the effectiveness of the components of the agriculture and food security programme on their livelihoods, revealed that beneficiaries perceived the effectiveness of the programme component as 'moderately effective' (composite mean = 3.04, SD = 0.59). The perceived impact of the programme was generally moderate. The beneficiaries however perceived the impact of the programme on their social capital to be 'high' compared to the other livelihood capitals.

There was significant and negative relationship between perceived effectiveness of the AFSP and sex and farm size. Educational level and sex of beneficiaries explained 10.2% of the variance in the perceived effectiveness of the AFSP on livelihood with educational level contributing 7.3%. The study also revealed that male beneficiaries who had small farms and low years of farming experience, before joining THP's AFSP perceived it as effective. Additionally, there was also an inverse relationship between age of beneficiaries, farming experience, farm size, yield before joining THP and perceived impact of the AFSP on livelihood.

Finally, a multiple stepwise regression analysis of the socio-economic and demographic characteristics of the beneficiaries and perceived impact, revealed that sex and educational level explained 11.3% of the variance in the perceived impact of the AFSP on livelihood. Sex of beneficiaries contributed

7.8% of the variance in the perceived impact with educational level contributing the remaining 3.5%.

Conclusions

The following conclusions were drawn base on the summary of the key findings of the study;

- 1. More males, with basic education as highest level of educational qualification, between the ages of 21 to 60 and above, participated in the programme.
- 2. Beneficiaries were adult married farmers, with varied years of farming experience, working on small farm size using family and hired labour on their farms.
- Beneficiary's yields have improved since joining The Hunger Project. Also, farmers sell farm produce and depend on agrochemicals from the open market. They also access agricultural information from MoFA and project ToTs.
- 4. Beneficiaries perceived the components of the project as moderately effective.
- 5. Beneficiaries perceived the project as having moderate impact on **NOBIS** livelihood capitals. However, perceived impact of the programme on social capital was found to be high.
- 6. There was a moderate significant relationship between educational level of beneficiaries and perceived effectiveness of the AFSP on livelihoods. However, there was low, negative significant relationship between sex of beneficiaries and perceived effectiveness of AFSP on

livelihoods. The two variables accounted 10.2% in the variance of perceived effectiveness.

- Young beneficiaries with less farming experience and low yield before joining the AFSP perceived the programme to have had impact on livelihood.
- 8. Beneficiaries with some level of education perceived the impact of the AFSP as positive on their livelihood.

Recommendations

The following recommendations were made based on conclusions of the study. The study recommends that:

- 1. THP should encourage more females by introducing training regimes that are more female friendly in the study area. This will help bridge the disparities between the number of men and women involved in programme.
- 2. Beneficiaries should be encouraged by staff of Department of Agriculture at the Mfantsiman Municipality to engage spouses and other dependants in the households in the programmes. The young ones among the dependants may acquire farming knowledge and skills which may influence them to go into farming in the future. Apart from serving as means of apprenticeship it will ensure sustainability, while a greater percentage of the labour requirements for farming activities could be obtained the households and reduce high hired labour costs.
- 3. THP should improve the farm credit component of the AFSP in order to provide farmers with the needed financial support for farming activities. Beneficiaries could explore other sources such as rural banks

and credit unions in the Municipality. THP can use its bargaining power to enable acquire equipment and other supplies as credit to help increase productivity,

- 4. THP must liaise with state institutions like Ghana Buffer Stock Company and aggregators operating under the planting for food and jobs to help beneficiaries market produce after harvesting. THP should encourage beneficiaries to make use of their food bank storage facility to prevent post-harvest loses and also help beneficiaries to attract good prices for their produce during the lean season.
- 5. Beneficiaries should be encouraged to process some produce to add value to produce and prevent postharvest losses. Apart from MoFA and project TOTs, beneficiaries should also source agricultural information from other media such as radio and TV programmes, friends and family members who are more experienced to enhance their knowledge base and also be in tuned with current agricultural technologies.
- 6. THP should liaise with MoFA to link the beneficiaries to benefit from some of the subsidized agricultural inputs to help reduce high cost of buying inputs from retail outlets
- THP must improve its collaboration with MoFA to ensure that more project TOTs are trained and resourced for effective extension service delivery in the project communities.
- 8. THP should collaborate with other NGOs who have specialised in helping farmers to find market for their produce in order to improve the market link and access component of the programme.

- 9. THP and other development organizations, should devote attention to improving the financial capital of farmers by introducing alternative source of income aside farming. This will eventually impact positively on all the other livelihood capitals.
- 10. THP and other development organizations in the Mfanstiman Municipality should pay attention to sex and educational level in order to improve the perceived effectiveness and impact of their programmes on beneficiaries.
- 11. THP should encourage more young people with less farming experience to join the AFSP in other to improve the impact of the programme on livelihoods.
- 12. THP and other development organizations offering agricultural interventions in the Mfanstiman municipality should encourage more people with some level of education to join in order to increase their involvement in agricultural production and improve livelihoods.

Suggestions for Further Research

- 1. The study should be replicated in other communities under the Taido epicenter using the "with" and "without" method to help validate the findings of this study.
- 2. The study should also be carried out in the Asafra epicenter so as to compare and ascertain the full impact and effectiveness of the AFSP in the Central Region.

REFERENCES

- Abbasi, A., Wigand, R. T., & Hossain, L. (2014). Measuring social capital through network analysis and its influence on individual performance. *Library & Information Science Research*, *36*(1), 66-73.
- Abikoye, O. G., Adisiji, G.,B., & Falola, A. (2015). Effect of agricultural programme on the livelihood of the vulnerable group: Case study of Fadama III programme in Kwara State, Nigeria. *Agriculture and Environment* 7, 23-35.
- Adams, J. (2010). The unknown James Coleman: Culture and history in foundations of social theory. *Contemporary Sociology*, *39*(3), 253-258.
- Adeleke-Bello, O. O., & Ahimolowo, O. R. (2015). Beneficiaries' perception of selected rural women. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 4108-4116.
- Adeogun, F. & Agwu, E.K. (2019). Beneficiaries perception of the West
 Africa agricultural productivity programme implimented by the
 University of Nigeria Nsukka in Enugu State, Nigeria. *Journal of*Agricultral Extension, 23(2), 31-36.
- Adio, E.O., Yusufu, A., Kunle, Y.S., & Shehu, N. (2016). Use of agricultural information sources and services by farmers for improved productivity in Kwara State, *Library Philosophy and Practice*, *14*(5), 6-8.
- Adjei, M. O. (2007). Africa's development: The imperatives of indigenous knowledge and values (Doctoral thesis, University of South Africa, Pretoria, South Africa) Retrieved from http://uir.unisa.ac.za/bitstream/handle/10500/1266/thesis.pdf-Reports/00407100-EN-ARDE-

APPROACH-PAPER.PDF

116

- Adu, M. O, Yawson, D. O., Armah F.A., Abano, E. E., Quansah, R. (2018). Systematic review of the effects of agricultural interventions on food security in northern Ghana. PLoS ONE, 13(9), 40-44. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203605
- Agbareva, M. (2013). Farmers' perception of effectiveness of agricultural extension delivery in Cross-River State Nigeria. *Agricultural Extension* and Veterinary Science (IOSR JAUS), 2(6), 11-17
- Alinovi, L., D'Errico, M., Mane, E., & Romano, D. (2010). Livelihoods strategies and household resilience to food insecurity: An Empirical analysis of Kenya. *European report on development*, 1-52.
- Alliance for the Green Revolution in Africa (2010). AGRA markets brochure (Electronic version). Accra: Author. Retrieved from http://archive.a gra.org/resources/
- Alliance for the Green Revolution in Africa (2013). *Africa agriculture status report: Focus on staple crops.* (Electronic version). Accra: Author. Retrieved from http://reliefweb.int/sites/ reliefweb.int/files/resources/ agrafinalaugust20akim.pdf
- Alobo Loison, S. (2015). Rural livelihood diversification in sub-Saharan Africa: a literature review. *The Journal of Development Studies*, 51(9), 1125-1138.
- Amaza, P., Abdoulaye, T., Kwaghe, P., & Tegbaru. A. (2009). Changes in household food security and poverty status in PROSAB areas of Southern Borno State, Nigeria. *IITA, Ibadan, Nigeria*.

- Amrouk, E., Poole, N., Mudungwe, N., & Muzvondiwa, E. (2013). The impact of commodity development projects on smallholders' market access in developing countries: case studies of FAO/CFC projects. FAO Commodity and Trade Policy Research Working Paper (FAO). Retrieved from www.fao.org/publications
- Andrews, R. (2010). Organizational social capital, structure and performance. *Human relations*, *63*(5), 583-608.
- Ani, A. O. (2004). Women in agriculture and rural development. Ekiti State, Nigeria. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 2,112-119
- Ansoms, A., & McKay, A. (2010). A quantitative analysis of poverty and livelihood profiles: The case of rural Rwanda. *Food Policy*, *35*(6), 584-598.
- Anyanwu, S. O. (2009). Gender and resources productivity among small-scale food crops farmers in River State, Nigeria. *Global Approaches to Extension Practice (GAEP) 5*(1), 107-114
- Anyanwu, S. O., Kalio, A. E., Manilla, H. A., & Ojumba, T. P. (2012).
 Cassava commercialization and its determinants in River State, *Nigeria Journal of Agricultural Science* 8(2), 112-114
- Arene, C. A., & Anyaeji, C.R. (2010). Determinants of food security among households in Nsukka Metropolis of Enugu State, Nigeria. *Pakistan Journal of Social Sciences.*, 30 (1), 9-16.
- Arifur, R., & Zarin, Y., C. (2017). Agricultural interventions of NGOs and its impact on women in Char towards economic empowerment. *Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences (IOSR-JHSS)*, 22(9), 86-96.

- Asante, I., K. (2015). Determinant of development effectiveness of the Millennium Development Authority Commercial Agriculture Development Project in the Effutu Municipality, Ghana, Unpublished master's dissertation, Department of Agricultural Economics and Extension, University of Cape Coast.
- Asiedu- Darko, E. (2013). Agricultural extension delivery in Ghana: A case study of factors affecting it in Ashanti, Eastern and Northern regions of Ghana. *Journal of Agricultural Extension and Rural Development 5*(2), 37-41.DOI: 10.5897/JAERD12.121
- Babatunde, R., & Omotosho, O. A. (2007). Factors influencing food securitystatus in rural farming households in North Central Nigeria. *Agricultural Journal*, 2(3), 351-357.
- Baker, J., L. (2001). Evaluating impact of development projects on poverty: A handbook from pracetitioners. Washington D.C.: The International Bank for Reconstruction development.
- Bampoe, E., A. (2015). Cassava farmers' perceived impact of the West Africa
 Agricultural Productivity Programme on the livelihood systems in
 Brong Ahafo Region, Ghana, Unpublished master's dissertation,
 Department of Agricultural Economics and Extension, School of
 Agriculture, University of Cape Coast.
- Banerjee, A. & Chaudhry, S. (2010). Statistics without tears: Populations and samples. *Industrial Psychiatry Journal*, 19(1), 60. DOI:10.4103/0972-6748.77642

- Barret, C. B., Bezumeh, M., & Aboud, A. (2001). Income diversification, poverty traps and policy shocks in Cote d'Ivoire and Kenya. *Food Policy*, 26(4), 367-384.
- Bekele, A., E. (2017). Access to improved seeds and its effect on food security of poor farmers. *International Journal for Development Research*, 7(7), 13655-13663.
- Belt, J., Kleijn, W., Chibvuma, P.A., Mudyazvivi, E. Gomo, M., Mfula, A., C.
 Mkojera, E., Opio, M., Zakaria, I & Boafo, K. (2015). *Making inputs accessible for smallholder farmers in Africa*. Retrieved from https://www.snv.org/public/cms/sites/default/files/explore/download/sn v-kit_wps_5-2015-web.pdf
- Bennett, C. F. (1979). Analyzing the impact of extension programmes.Washington, DC: Science and Education Department, United StateDepartment of Agriculture
- Beyene, F., & Muche, M. (2010). Determinants of food Security among rural households of Central Ethiopia: An empirical analysis. *Quarterly Journal of International Agriculture*, 49(4), 299-318.
- Boateng, J. K., Kwowe, C. & Nyaaba, K. (2014). Perception on impact of METASIP on food security in Ghana. *Developing Country Studies*, 4(15), 33-35 Retrieved from www.iiste.org
- Bosompem, M. (2006). Cocoa farmers' perceived impact of the cocoa high technology programme on their livelihoods in the Eastern Region of Ghana. Unpublished master's dissertation, University of Cape Coast.

- Bosompem, M., Annor-Frempong, F., & Achiaa, Y. (2013). Perceived entrepreneurial competencies of Undergraduates and self-employment creation after graduation: Implication for youth policy in Ghana. *International Journal of Business and Management Studies*, 2(3), 355-365
- Bosompem, M., Kwarteng, J., A. & Ntifo-Siaw, E. (2011). Perceived impact of cocoa innovations in the livelihoods of cocoa farmers in Ghana: The sustainable livelihood framework (SL) approach. *Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa, 13*(4), 4-10.
- Chambers, R., & Conway, G. (1992). Sustainable rural livelihoods: Practical concepts for the 21st century. Institute of Development Studies (UK).
- Chen, W.T., Clayton, M. L., & Palmer, A. (2015). Community food security in the United States: A survey of scitific literature. *Baltimore: John Hopkins Center for a Livable Future*.
- Connell, J. P., & Kubisch, A.C. (1998). Applying a theory of approach to the evaluation of comprehensive community initiative: progress, prospects and problems. *New approaches to evaluating community initiatives*, 2(15-44), 1-16.
- Cummings, T. G. & Worley, C. G. (2009). Organization Development and Change (9th Ed). *Western Cengage learning*.
- Dale, R. (2004). Evaluating development programmes and projects (2nd ed.). New Delhi: Sage Publications Inc.
- Daly, H. E. (2007). Ecological economics and sustainable development. Edward Elgar Publishing.

- Datt, G., & Ravallion, M. (2011). Has India's economic growth become more pro-poor in the wake of economic reforms? *The World Bank Economic Review*, 25(2), 157-189.
- Davis, J. A. (1971). *Elementary survey analysis*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- De Groot, R., Perk, J. V., Chiesura, A., & Vliet, A. V. (2003). Importance and threats as determining factors for criticality of natural capital. *Ecological Economics*, 44(3) 187-204.
- Del Carpio, X. V. D., & Maredia, M. (2011). Impact evaluations in agriculture: An Assessment of the evidence: Washington, DC. The World Bank.
- Dengerink, J. (2013), Improving livelihoods with private sustainability standards: measuring the development impact of the UTZ Certified certification scheme among Ghanaian cocoa farmers, Unpublished Masters dissertation, Univerteit Utrecht.
- Department for International Development [DFID]. (1999). Sustainable livelihood guidance sheet. Retrieved May 2008, from http://www.dfid gov.uk
- Department for International Development [DFID]. (2000). Sustainable livelihood guidance sheets. London, United Kingdom: DFID. Retrieved from http://www.livelihoodorg/info.guidancesheet.htm
- Ding, W., Jimoh, S. O., Hou, Y., Xiangyang, H., & Weiguo, Z. (2018). Influence of livelihood capitals on livelihood strategies of herdsmen in inner Mongolia, China. *Sustainability*, 10 (9), 33-35

- Dodd, M. D., Brummette, J., & Hazleton, V. (2015). A social capital approach: An examination of Putnam's civic engagement and public relations roles. *Public relations review*, *41*(4), 472-479
- Ekins, P., Sanderine, S., Lisa, D., Carl, F., & Rudolf, D. G. (2003). A framework for the practical application of the concepts of critical natural capital and strong sustainability. *Ecological Economic*, 44: 165-185.
- Ellis, F. (2000). *Rural livelihood and diversity in developing countries*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Ephraim, P. F., & Arene, C. J. (2015). Assessment of national special programme for food security (NSPPS) on productivity and income of beneficiary farmers in Plateau State, Nigeria . *Journal of Agriculture and Sustainability*, 8(2), 43 60.
- Fang, Y. P. (2013). The effects of natural capital protection on pastoralist's livelihood and management implication in the source region of the Yellow River, China. *Journal of Mountain Science*, 10(5), 885-897.
- Fawole, O. P. (2008). Pineapple farmers' information sources and usage in Nigeria (Electronic version). *Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science*, 14 (4), 381-389. Retrieved from www.agrojournal.org/14/04-05-08.pd
- Fawole, W. O., Ilbasmis, E., & Ozkan, B. (2015). Food Insecurity in Africa in terms of causes, effects and solutions: A case study of Nigeria. In 2nd International Conference on Sustainable Agriculture and Environment, September 30-October 03, 2015, Kenya, Turkey. Proceedings book (Vol.1, pp 6-11)

- Food & Agriculture Organization (2015). *The impact of disasters on agriculture and food security*. FAO of UN, Rome, Italy.
- Food & Agriculture Organization (2013). *Guidelines for input trade fairs and voucher schemes*. FAO of UN, Rome, Italy.
- Food & Agriculture Organization (2010). *Beneficiary satisfaction and impact assessment of ISFP* - TCP Projects: A global synthesis. FAO of UN,Rome, Italy.
- Food & Agriculture Organization (2014). *Statistical Yearbook 2014 on Africa Food and Agriculture*. Accra, FAO and of UN, Regional Office for Africa
- Food & Agriculture Organization (2017). *Migration, agriculture and climate change. Reducing vulnerabilities and enhancing resilience.* FAO, Rome, Italy.
- Foster, J. (2003). Between economics and ecology: Some historical and philosophical consideration for modeller of natural capital.
 Environmental Modelling Assessement, 86(1-2) 63 74.
- Funnell, S., & Rogers, P. (2011). Purposeful programme theory: Effective use of theories of change and logic models.San F rancisco, CA:Jossey-Bass
- Gamble, T. K. & Gamble, M. (1996). *Communication works* (6th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw- hill College
- Gamble, T. K., & Gamble, M. (2002). *Communication works* [pp. 82-107] (17th ed). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill / Irwin. Inc.

- Garba, A. P., Jamala,G. Y., & Saibu,H. E., (2011). Evaluation of factors influencing farmers' adoption of irrigated rice production in fadama,north-eastern, Nigeria *Journal of Development and Agricultural Economics 3*(2),75-79.
- Gbigbi, M. T., Bassey, N. E., & Okon, U. E. (2010). Analysis of technical efficiency in cassava production in Delta State, Nigeria. *Nigerian SouthEast Journal of Agricultural Economics & Extension*, 9 (1&2), 115-123.
- Ghana Statistical Service, (2014). 2010 population and housing census report, Accra, Ghana
- Ghana Statistical Service, (2017). *Ghana Living Standard Survey Round* 7(GLSSR7). Accra, Ghana.
- GLOPP (2008). *DFID's sustainable livelihoods approach and its framework*. Retrieved from www.gloop.ch/B7/en/multimedia /B71_ pdf2.pdf
- Gollin, D. (2010). Agricultural productivity and economic growth. *Handbook* of agricultural economics, 4, 3825-3866.
- Gollin, D. (2019). IFAD Research Series No. 34-Farm Size and Productivity: Lessons from Recent Literature. *IFAD Research Series*, *34*, 2018
- Gravetter, F. J., & Wallnau, L. B. (2005). *Essentials of statistics for the behavioural sciences (5th ed)*. Balmont, CA: Thompson.
- Gyampoh, B. A., Asante, W. A., La Rose, D. J., Adu-Acheampong, G., Assimeng, T., & Opoku, A. G. (2011). Mapping and documenting indigenous knowledge in climate change adaptation in Ghana. *Africa Adaptation Programme, United Nations Development Programme.*

- Hari, S. & Kumawat, R. C. (2006). Impact of swarnjayanti gram swarojgar yojana (SGSY) in Jhunijhuna (Rajasthan).*Rural India*, 69(8-9),164-168.
- Harris-Fry, H., Azad, K., Kuddus, A., Shaha, S., Nahar, B., Hossen, M., & Fottroll, E. (2015). Socio-economic determinants of household food security and women's dietary diversity in rural Bangladesh: A crosssectional study. *Journal of Health, Population and Nutrition, 33*(1), 2.
- Hassan, N. A., & Aenis, T. (2016). Participation in Extension Program
 Planning for an Improvement of Smallholders' Livelihoods in the
 MENA Region. In 12th European International Farming Systems
 Association (IFSA) Symposium, Social and technological
 transformation of farming systems: Diverging and converging
 pathways, 12-15 July 2016, Harper Adams University, Newport,
 Shropshire, UK (pp. 1-11). International Farming Systems Association
 (IFSA) Europe.
- Henson, S., Lindstrom, J., Haddad, L., & Mulmi, R. (2010). Public perceptions of international development and support for aid in the UK: Results of a qualitative enquiry. *IDS Working Papers*, 2010(353), 01-67.
- Huberty, C. J. (1989). Problems with stepwise methods-better alternatives. InB. Thompson (Ed.). Advances in social science methodology, 1, 43-70.
- Institute of Statistical, Social and Economic Research (2012). An impact evaluation of the MiDA FBO training final report (Electronic version). Accra: Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/countries/ghana/report-022012-evaluation-ghafarmer-based-organization.pdf

- Iwuchukwu, J. C., Udoye, C. E., & Onwubuya E., A. (2013). Training needs of pineapple farmers in Enugu State. *Journal of Agricultural Extension*, 17 (1), 89-99.
- James, C. (2011). Theory of change review: A report commissioned by Comicrelief. Retrieved from http://made.co.uk/blog/wp-content/up loads/2012/03/2012-Comic-Relief-Theory-of-Change-Review-FINAL.pdf

Jayachandra, K., & Naidu, Y.G (2006). Impact of dairy cooperatives on income and employment creation of assets of marginal and small farmers: A case study. *Indian Cooperative Review*, *43*(4), 719-724.

- Kindness, H., & Gordon, A. (2001). Agricultural marketing in developing countries: The role of NGOs and CBOs. Natural Resources Institute.
- Kolawole, A., Oladele, O.I., Alarima, I. C. & Wakatsuki, T. (2012). Farmers' perception of sawah rice production technology in Nigeria. *Journal of Human Ecology*, *37*(1), 13-17.
- Krejcie, R. V., & Morgan, D. W. (1970). Determining sample size for research activities. *Educational and psychological measurement*, 30(3), 607-610.
- Kuwornu, J. K. M., Demi, S. M., & Amegashie, D. P.K. (2013a). Analysis of food security status of farming households in the forest belt of the Central Region of Ghana, *Russian Journal of Agricultural and Socio-Economic Sciences*, 1(13), 50-60.
- Kuwornu, J. K. M., Demi, S. M. & Amegashie, D. P. K. (2013b). Comparative analysis of food security status of farming households in the coastal and forest communities of the Central Region of Ghana, *Asian Journal of Empirical Research*,3(1), 39-61.
- Lam, W.F., & Ostrom, E. (2010). Analyzing the dynamic complexity of development interventions: lessons from an irrigation experiment in Napal, *Policy Services*, 43 (1), 1-25
- Lemba, J. (2009). Intervention model for sustainable household food security in the drylands of Kenya: case study of Makueni district. Ghent University.
- Lloyd-Jones, T., & Rakodi, C. (2014). Urban livelihoods: A people-centred approach to reducing poverty. Routledge.
- Manu, S., Akuamoah-Boateng, S., Akaba, S. (2013). Predictors of food security among vegetable farmers in South and North Ketu, Ghana. *International Journal of Technology and Management Research*, 1(2), 19-26.
- Masset, E., Haddad, L., Cornelius, A., & Isaza-Castro, J. (2011). Effectiveness of agricultural interventions that aim to improve nutritional status of children: systematic review. *Bmj*, *344*, d8222.
- Masset, E. (2013). The stabilizing effect of irrigation on seasonal expenditure: evidence from rural Andhra Pradesh. In *Seasonality, Rural Livelihoods and Development* (pp. 132-145). Routledge.
- Masud-All-Kamal, M. (2013). Livelihood coping and recovery from disaster: the case of coastal Bangladesh. *Curr Res J Soc Sci*, 5(1), 35-44.

Digitized by Sam Jonah Library

- Maviet, K., Ermis, S., & Demir, I. (2006). The effect of priming on tomato rootstock seeds in relation to seedling growth. Asian Journal of Plant Science, 5(6), 940-947.
- Mayne, J. (2015). Using theories of reach to enhance equity considerations in evaluation. In K. Forss & M. Marra (Eds), *Speaking justice to power: Ethical and methodical challenges for evaluators* (pp.133-152). New Brunswick. NJ: Transaction
- Mensah, J. O., Aidoo, J., & Tuffour, R. (2013). Determinants of household food security in the Sekyere- Afram plains district of Ghana. *European Scientific Journal* 9(2), 347-353.
- Miller, L. (2005). Understanding relationships and associational research. Pensylvania, UAS: AIAEE, *The Informant, 23* (2).
- MoFA (2011). Agricultural extension approaches being implemented in Ghana. Accra, Ghana
- MoFA (2015). Northern Regional Agricultural Development Programme. Accra, Ghana: Author
- Moon, E. P. (2004). The application of modernization theory to phases in Maori development since 1800 (Master's thesis, Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand). (Electronic version). Retrievedfromhttp://aut.researchgateway.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10292 /17/MoonP.pdf?sequence=2
- More, S.V. (2014). Perception of the beneficiaries about farmer's field school programme in Konkan region of Maharashtra. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Department of Extension Education, College of Agriculture, Dapoli.

- Musiime, S., & Atuha, B. (Eds), (2011). A guide for smallholder farmers on saving, accessing credit and effectively managing money for improved livelihoods (Electronic version). Kampala: Agri Pro Focus. Retrieved fromhttp://www.fsnnetwork.org/sites/default/files/a_guide_for_small_holder_farmers_on_saving_accessing_credit_and_effectively_managin g_money_for_improved_livelihoods.pdf
- Mutero, J., Munapo, E. & Seakatso, P. (2016). Operational challenges face by smallholder farmers: a case of Ethekwini Metropolitan in South Africa. *Environmental Economics*, 7(2), 40-52. DOI: 10.21511/ee.07 (2). 2016.4
- Nakano, Y., Tsusaka, T. W., Aida, T. & Pede, V.O. (2018). Is farmer –to-farmer extension effective? The impact of training on technology adoption in rice farming productivity in Tanzania. *World Development*, 105, 336-351.DIO: 10.10116/j.worlddev.2017.12.013.
- Nandi, J. A., Gunn, P., & Yukushi, E. N. (2011). Economic analysis of cassava production in Obubra Local Government Area of Cross River State, Nigeria. Asian Journal of Agricultural Science, 3(3), 205-209.
- Nani, J. R. (2005). Analysis of smoked fish marketing in Maiduguri Metropolitan Council, Borno State. Nigeria Journal of Arid Zone Economy, 1(4), 23-26.
- Nasengani, T. J., & Netshandama, V. O. (2016). Contribution of food security projects on poverty alleviation to the communities of Limpopo province, South Africa. *South African Journal of Agricultural Extension*,44(1),113-119.

- Neuman. W. L. (2003). *Social Research Method: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches*, Boston. MA: Pearson Education Inc.
- Ngema, P. Z., Sibanda, M., & Musemwa, L. (2018). Household food security status and its determinants in Maphumulo local municipality, South Africa. *Sustainability*, 10(9), 3307, DIO:10.3390/su10093307.
- Niehof, A., & Price, L. (2007). Rural livelihood systems: a conceptual framework. (UPWARD Working Paper Series No.5).Wageningen, Netherlands:International Potato Centre.
- Nwanze, K. F. (2011). View point: Smallholders can feed the world (Electronic version). Rome: International Fund for Agricultural Development. Retrieved from www.ifad.org/pub/viewpoint/smallh older.pdf
- Nyaaba, A. A. (2016), Small-scale famers' perception of effectiveness of fertilizer subsidy programme in the Sene West and Sene East District of the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana, Unpublished master's dissertation, Department of Agricultural Economics and Extension, University of Cape Coast.
- Nyangasa, M. A., Buck, C., Kelm, S., Sheik, M., & Hebestreit, A. (2019).
 Exploring food access and sociodemographic correlates of food consumption and food insecurity in Zanzibari households. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(9), 1557.
- Nyangile, W. J. (2013). Comparative study of Livelihood strategies and Food Security of recent Migrants and non-Migrants in Kilombero Valley.
 Morogoro, Tanzania: Sokoine University of Agriculture.

- OECD Development Assistance Committee (2000). DAC criteria for evaluating development assistance (Electronic version). Paris: OECD-DAC. Available at www.oecd.org/dac/evaluation.
- OECD Directorate for Science, Technology and Innovation (2014). Assessment of the impact of state interventions in research techniques, issues and solutions. Unpublished manuscript p.2
- Ojogho, O. (2010). Determinants of food insecurity among arable framers in Edo State, Nigeria. *Agricultural Journal*, 5(3), 151-156.
- Ojuekaiye, E. O. (2001) Economic analysis of cassava production in three local Government areas of Koji State. Unpublished master's dissertation, Department of Agricultural Economics and Rural Development, University of Ibadan, Nigeria.
- Ojuekaiye, Ogundari, K., & Ojo, S. O. (2006). An examination of technical, economic and allocative efficiency of small farms: The case study of cassava farmers in Osu State of Nigeria. *Journal of Central European Agriculture*, 7(3), 423-432.
- Okorley, E., Deh, J., & Owusu, R. (2012). A Ghanaian case study of strategies of ensuring accountability by non-governmental organizations (Electronic version). *Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa, 14* (7), 43-54.
- Oluyole, K., A, Ogudale, A. O., & Bankole, M. B. (2011). Youth activities and constraints to community departments in Akoto – North, Ondo State, Nigeria. *Journal of Agricultural Extension*, *13*(1), 43-47.

- Osei, M. J., Aidoo, R., & Tuffour, T. (2013). Determinants of household food security in the Sekyere-Afram plains District of Ghana. *Global Advanced Research Journal of Agricultural Science*, 9(21), 2315-5094. nhttp://garj.org/garjas/index.htm
- Pallant, J. (2005). SPSS survival manual: A step-by-step guide to data analysis using SPSS for windows (version 10). New South Wiles: Allen &Unwin, M. (2004). Understanding research methods, (4th Ed.).
 Glendale, CA: Pyrczak Publishing.
- Pandey, V. L., Dev, S. M., & Jayachandran, U. (2016). Impact of agricultural interventions on the nutritional status in South Asia: A review. *Food Policy*, 100(62), 28-40.
- Pappoe, A. (2011). Effect of Biofuel Production on Household Food Security in the Central Region of Ghana. Unpublished master's dissertation, Department of Agricultural Economics and Agribusiness, University of Ghana.
- Picciotto, R. (2013). The logic of development effectiveness: Is it time for the broader evaluation community to take notice? *Evaluation 19*(2)155–170. DOI: 10.1177/1356389013483715
- Prisens, G. & Nijhof, S. (2015). Between logframes and theory of change: reviewing debates and practical experience. *Development in Practice*, 25(2), 234-246.
- Quaino, M. E. (2010). Food security implications of women farmers' participation in biofuel crop production in the Gomoa District. Unpublished MPhil thesis, Department of Agricultural Economics and Agribusiness, University of Ghana, Legon.

- Rais, M., Khan, M. Z., Ghalib, S. A., Abbas, D., Khan, W. A., Islam, S., & Husnain, A. (2009). Recent record of smooth coated otter (Lutrogalle perspicillata) from Sindh Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Zoology*, *41*(5), 413-414
- Ravallion, M. (2009). Do poorer countries have less capacity for redistribution? Washington, DC: The World Bank.
- Roseland, M. (2000). Sustainable community development: Integrating environmental, economic and social objectives. *Progress in Planning*, 54(2), 73-132.
- Rogers, E. M. (2003). Elements of diffusion. *Diffusion of innovations*, 5(1.38).
- Rusike, J., Mahungu, N. M., Lukombo, S. S., Kadenga, T., Badiaka, S. M.,
 Alene, A. &Manyong, V., M. (2014). Does cassava research –for
 development programme have impact at farm level? Evidence from
 Democratic Republic of Congo. *Food Policy*, 46,193-204

Sarantakos, S. (2005). Social research. Sydney: Macmillan Press Ltd.

- Sawant, B.N., Sawant, V.Y., & Patil, V, G. (2003). Farmers' perception about extension systems of Maha. *Journal of Extension Education*, 22 (1), 117-119.
- Seini, W., Jones, M., Tambi, E., & Odularu, G. (2011). Input market initiatives that support innovation systems and agricultural value chains in Africa (Ministerial Policy Brief Series: NSF 1/3; Advocacy and policy) (Electronic version). Accra: Forum for Agricultural Research in Africa (FARA). Retrieved from https://www.faraafrica.org/media/upload/ library/docs/policy_briefs/input_market_initiative_that_support_innov ative_systems_and_ag_value_chain.pdf

- Senadza, B. (2012). Non-farm income diversification in rural Ghana: Patterns and determinants. *African Development Review*, *24*(3), 233-244.
- Simule, M., El-Lakany, H. & Tomaseli, I. (2010). Metaevaluation assesses ITTO's project work. *ITTO Tropical Forest Update*, 22(1),3-6
- Smallholder Market and Agricultural Resilience Transformation Project (2012). Improving smallholder farmers' access to agricultural inputs, services, and measures to enhance their productive capacity and production (Project document summary) (Electronic version). London: International Development Enterprises (IDE). Retrieved from: http://www.ideuk.org/wpcontent/uploads/2013/02/ETH063 SMART-Project-Summary.pdf
- Smith, L. C., Alderman H., & D. Aduayom. (2006). Food insecurity in sub-Saharan Africa: new estimates from household expenditure surveys (IFPRI Research Report 146). Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute
- Smith, D. R., Gordon, A., Kate, M., & Karen, Z. (2001). Livelihood diversification in Uganda: Patterns and determinants of change across two rural districts. *Food Policy*, 26(4), 421-435.
- Stein, D., & Valters, C. (2012). Understanding the 'theory of change' in international development: A review of existing knowledge. London: London School of Economics.
- Stevens, J. (1996). Applied multivariate statistics for the social sciences (3rd ed.). Mahway, New Jersey, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum

- Sumo, W. M. (2015). Farmers' perceived impact of the ASRP on their livelihoods in Careysburg and Todee districts, Liberia. Unpublished master's thesis, University of Cape Coast, Cape Coast
- Takane, T. (2008). Labour use in smallholder agriculture in Malawi: Six village case studies. *African Study Monographs*, 29(4), 183-200.
- Takyiwaa, C. (2012). Assessment of perception of the socio-economic sustainability of The Hunger Project's aid, a case of Apau- Wawase epicenter. Unpublished dissertation submitted to the Institute of Distance Learning, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology.
- Tannor, L. L. (2014). A guide to writing dissertations. Accra, Ghana: Dieco Venture
- Tersoo, P. (2014). Agribusiness as a veritable tool for rural development in Nigeria. International letters of social and humanistic sciences, (03), 26-36.
- Tesfaye, Y., Roos, A., Campbell, B. M., & Bohlin, F. (2011). Livelihood strategies and the role of forest income in participatory-managed forests of Dodola area in the bale highlands, southern Ethiopia .*Forest* policy and economics, 13(4), 258-265
- Thompson, P., J. (1995). Reconceptualizing the private/public spheres: A basis for home economics theory. *Canadian Home Economics Journal*, 45(2), 53-57.

- Tipps, D. C. (1973). Modernization theory and the comparative study of societies: A critical perspective. *Comparative Studies in Society and History*, 15(2), 199-226. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1 78351.
- United Nations Development Programme (2001). 2001 development effectiveness: Review of evaluative evidence (Electronic version). New York, NY: Author, Evaluation Office. from http://web.undp.org/ evaluation/documents/der2001.pdf
- United Nations Development Programme (2009). Handbook on planning, monitoring and evaluation for development results (Electronic version). New York, NY: Author, Evaluation Office. Available at http://www.undp.org/eo/handbook
- Vaidya, C. (2009). Urban issues, reforms and way forward in India (Working Paper No.4/2009-DEA), Delhi, India: Department of Economic Affairs, Ministry of Finance
- Valters, C. (2014). Theories of change in international development: Communication, learning, or accountability. *JSRP Paper*, 17
- Van Es, M. (2015). Theory of change as best practice or next track to perform? Hivo's journey with strategic reflection. *The political evidence and results in international development: Playing the game to change the rules*, 95-114.
- Van den Ban, A. W., Hawkins, H. S. (1996). Agricultural Extension (2nd ed.).London: Blackwell Science Ltd.

- Vanderstoep, S., W. & Johnston, D., D.(2009). Research methods for everyday life:Blending qualitative and quantitative approaches.San Francisco, SF : John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Victor, P. A. (2015). The Kenneth E. Boulding Memorial Award 2014: Ecological economics: A personal journey. *Ecological Economics*, 10 9, 93-100.
- Walelign, S. Z. (2016). Living strategies, environmental dependency and rural poverty: The case of two villages in rural Mozambique.
 Environment, development and sustainanbility, 18 (2), 593-613.
- Wallen, N. E., & Fraenkel, J. R. (2001). *Educational research: A guide to the process* (2nd ed.). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Wanjala, B. M., & Muradian, R. (2013). Can big push interventions take small-scale farmers out of poverty? Insights from the Sauri Millennium Village in Kenya. *World Development*, 45, 147-160.
- Weiss, C.H.(1995). How can theory-based evaluation make greater headway? *Evaluation Review 21*(4),501-524
- Wilcox, D. L., Cameron, G. T., Ault, P. H., & Agee, W. K. (2003). *Public Relations Strategies and Practice* (7th ed). Boston: Pearson Education.
- Winters, P., Salazar, L., & Maffioli, A. (2010). Designing impact evaluations impact evaluation guidelines. Inter - American Development Bank, Washington, DC, 14,2012.
- World Bank (2013). Unlocking Africa's agricultural potential. Washington,DC: The World Bank.
- World Bank (2010). *Global strategy to improve agricultural and rural statistics*. Washington, DC: The World Bank.

Zhen, L., & Routray, J. K. (2003). Operational indicators for measuring agricultural sustainability in developing countries. *Environmental Management*, 32 (1), 34-46.



APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: STRUCTURED INTERVIEW SCHEDULE

Dear Respondents,

The Hunger Project introduced the agriculture and food security programme in your district to improve on the livelihood beneficiaries which you were one of them. This instrument has been designed to assess the perceived impact of the agriculture and food security programme of The Hunger Project on the livelihood of the beneficiaries in the Mfantsiman Municipality of the Central Region of Ghana. The results would be used to improve the programme.

You are therefore entreated to respond to the questions by expressing your candid opinions and suggest where possible ways to improve the programme. The information you provide would be treated confidential and would be used for the purpose of the research. Recommendations from the study will be shared with The Hunger Project and other stakeholders to improve the programme.

Thank you

Mr. Richard Omari

Prof. Festus Annor-Frempong

Research Student

Supervisor

PART A

Perceived effectiveness of the component of THP's Agriculture and Food Security Programme.

Please indicate the extent to which the following components of the agriculture and food security programme have been either effective or ineffective in helping you to achieve your farming objective. Please tick $[\sqrt{}]$ one of the boxes by the following guide;

5- Very effective [VE] = means on the scale of 5 out of 5, I can say that it has been effective in helping me achieve my farming objectives

4- Effective [E] = means on the scale of 4 out of 5, I can say that it has been effective in helping me achieve my farming objectives

3- Moderately effective [ME] = means on the scale of 3 out of 5, I can say that it has been effective in helping me achieve my farming objectives.

2. Lowly effective [LE] = means on the scale of 2 out of 5, I can say that it has been effective in helping me achieve my farming objectives.

1. Very lowly effective [VLE] = means on the scale of 1 out of 5, I can say that it has been effective in helping me achieve my farming objectives.

0- Cannot tell [CNT] =I cannot tell the extent of effectiveness of the components of the programme in helping me achieve my farming objectives.

Programme Component		Exte	nt of ir	neffectiv	veness	
F P	0	1	2	3	4	5
A. Input Supply						
Seeds supplied		N				
Fertilizer supplied	15					
Cutlasses supplied						
Farm credit provided						
Wellington boots provided						
Agro-chemicals supplied						
B. Extension service and Training						
Training on row planting						
Training on proper methods of fertilizer application						
Training on agro-chemical application						
C. Market Links and Networks						

Links to processors			
Links to exporters			
Links to schools			
Links to restaurants			
Links to hotels			

PART B

Perceived Impact of THP-Ghana's Agriculture and Food Security Programme on Beneficiary's Livelihood.

Please indicate extent to which the various aspects of life have been impacted by the agriculture and food security programme by ticking $[\sqrt{}]$ one of the boxes. Please the following as a guide;

5. Very high impact [VHI] = means on the scale of out 5 of 5, I can say that it has made a very high impact on the various aspects of my life.

4- High impact [HI] = means on the scale of out 4 of 5, I can say that it has made a high impact on the various aspects of my life.

3- Moderate impact [MI] = means on the scale of 3 out of 5, I can say that it has made a moderate impact on the various aspects of my life.

2- Low impact [LI] = means on the scale of 2 out of 5, I can say that it has made a low impact on the various aspects of my life.

1- Very low impact [VLI] = means on the scale of 1 out of 5, I can say that it has made a very low impact on the various aspects of my life.

0-Cannot tell [CNT] = I cannot tell if the impact of the programme on my livelihood

	Ratings			s		Remarks	
Livelihood Capitals							
	0	1	2	3	4	5	
A. Financial Capital							
It has helped me receive credit from other							
people							
It has helped me acquire credit from other							
institutions							
It has helped me save the proceeds from the							
sale of my farm produce.							
It has helped me secure insurance		1					
It has helped me pay my children's school		7					
fees							
It has helped me acquire money for farming.							
It has increased my income level							
It has helped me decrease my debt							
B. Physical Capitals				7			
It has helped buy a knapsack sprayer							
It has helped buy electronic gadgets(cell,			7				
phone, radio, laptops)					2		
It has helped me to have access to vehicles to							
transport my produce to the market for sale				Χ	\leq		
It has helped me have physical market			5				
around for the sale of my produce.	<						
C. Human Capital							
It has given me access to skilled labour.							
It has given access to unskilled labour.							
It has helped me pay for labour							
It has helped me have access to extension							
service							
It has helped me to be physically fit for my							
farming activities							
D. Social Capital							
Support to other family members							
Support friends							

Ability to pay school fees				
E. Natural Capitals				
Increase in productivity (yield per acre/ha)				
Access to land				
Own a farm land				
Access to better farm inputs				

PART C

Socio-economic and Demographic Characteristics of Beneficiaries

1. Name of	community	 	

2. Sex Male [] Female [] please tick $[\sqrt{}]$

3. Please indicate your age (in years).....

4. Marital status. Please tick $[\sqrt{}]$

. . . .

a. single [] b. married [] c. separated [] d. divorced [] e. widowed []

5. Kindly indicate your highest educational qualification. Please tick $[\sqrt{}]$

a. No formal education [] b. Primary Education [] c. B.E.C.E []

d. MSLC [] e. SSCE/WASSCE [] f. GCE "O" Level []

g. GCE "A" Level [] h. Tertiary [] Others (specify)

6. Household size of respondent

7. Please how many years have you been with THP-Ghana.....

8. How many years have you been into farming?

9. What type of crop do you grow?

10. What is the size of your farm in acres?

Type of Crop	Size of Farm
Maize	
Cassava	
Citrus	
Oil palm	
Pepper	
Garden eggs	

11. Please indicate your yield (Kg/acre) before and after joining the THP.

Type of Crop	Yield before THP	Yield after THP
Maize		
Cassava		
Citrus		
Oilpalm		
Pepper		
Garden eggs		

12. What is your primary occupation?

13. Where do get agricultural information? Please tick $[\sqrt{}]$

a. MoFA [] b. THP- officials [] c. Friend [

d. Radio stations [] e. Inputs dealers

14. What are the sources of your funds for your farming activities?

Please tick $[\sqrt{}]$ a. Commercial banks [] b. Rural Banks []

c. Micro Finance [] d. Sale of assets [] e. Sale of farm produce []

f. Personal savings [] g. Money lenders [] h. Family Members []

j. Friends [] others specify.....

15. Where do you sell your produce? Please tick $[\sqrt{}]$

a. Through middle men/women [] b. Local market []

c. Through NGOs [] d. Processor [] e. Others specify.....

16. Where do you get your inputs for your farming?

a. From AEAs [] b. Wholesale shops [] c. THP [] d. I can't tell []
e. Other NGOs []

Others specify.....

17. Do you use any technology in your farming?

Yes [] No []. Please tick []

18. If yes, please indicate the kind of technology you use in the following farming activities;

Land preparation.....

Weed control.....

Fertilizer application.....

Harvesting.....

19. What are the sources of labour for your farming activities?

a. Family labour [] b. hired labour [] c. family and hired labour

20. Do you belong to any Farmer Base Organization (FBO)?

Yes [] No []. Please tick []

21 If yes what is the name of the FBO.....location..... and your position...

THANK YOU

APPENDIX B: TABLE FOR DETERMINING SAMPLE SIZE FROM A

N	S	N	5	N	S
10	10	220	140	1200	291
15	14	230	144	1300	297
20	19	240	148	1400	302
25	24	250	152	1 <i>5</i> 00	306
30	28	260	155	1 <i>6</i> 00	310
35	32	270	159	1700	313
40	36	280	162	1800	317
45	40	290	165	1900	320
50	44	300	169	2000	322
55	48	320	175	2200	327
60	52	340	181	2400	331
65	56	360	186	2600	335
70	59	380	191	2800	338
75	63	400	196	3000	341
80	66	420	201	3 <i>5</i> 00	346
85	70	440	205	4000	351
90	73	460	210	4500	354
95	76	480	214	5000	357
100	80	500	217	6000	361
110	86	550	226	7000	364
120	92	600	234	8000	367
130	97	650	242	9000	368
140	103	700	248	10000	370
150	108	750	254	15000	375
160	113	800	260	20000	377
170	118	850	265	30000	379
180	123	900	269	40000	380
190	127	950	274	50000	381
200	132	1000	278	75000	382
210	136	1100	285	1000000	384

GIVEN POPULATION

Note .— Nis population size. S is sample size.

Source: Krejcie & Morgan, 1970

APPENDIX C: DAVIS CONVERSION FOR DESCRIBING

MAGNITUDE OF CORRELATION COEFFICIENTS

Magnitude of Corr	relation Coefficient Deter	mination
	(r)	
1	1.0	Perfect
2	0.70 - 0.99	Very High
3	0.50 - 0.69	Substantial
4	0.30 - 0.49	Moderate
5	0.10 - 0.29	Low
 6	0.01- 0.09	Negligible



APPENDIX D: PAIRED SAMPLE T-TEST FOR YIELD BEFORE AND

AFTER JOINING THP

	Paired Samples Statistics										
_				Std.	Std. Error						
		Mean	Ν	Deviation	Mean						
Pair 1	Yield_Before_THP	1.4057	175	.49244	.03722						
	Yield_After_Joining_THP	2.4743	175	.57553	.04351						

N Correlation Sig. Pair 1 Yield_Before_THP & 175 .372 .00		Paired Samples Correla	tions		
Pair 1 Yield_Before_THP & 175 .372 .00			N	Correlation	Sig.
Viald After Jainer TUD	Pair 1	Yield_Before_THP &	175	272	000
Yieia_After_Joining_IHP	Yield_After_Joining_THP	175	.372	.000	

Paired Samples Test

		Paired Differences							
					95% Confidence				
				Std.	Interval	of the			Sia.
			Std.	Error	Differ	ence			(2-
		Mean	Deviation	Mean	Lower	Upper	t	df	tailed)
Pair	Yield_Before_THP -	-	60257	04555	-	-	-	174	000
1	Yield_After_Joining_THP	1.06857	.00237	.04000	1.15847	.97867	23.459	174	.000